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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

2 New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") (cont'd) 

 

(b) New and Revised IFRSs and Interpretations issued but not yet effective (cont’d) 

 

• IFRIC 14, IAS 19, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and 

their Interaction 

• IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 

 

Other amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 

• IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements   

• IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows   

• IAS 17, Leases  

• IAS 36, Impairment of Assets  

• IAS 38, Intangible Assets  

• IFRS 2, Share-based Payment  

• IFRS 8, Operating Segments  

• IFRIC 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives  

 

Except for the revised IFRS 3 and the amendments to IAS 27, the directors expect that the adoption of 

the other IFRSs and Interpretations above will have no material impact on the financial statements in the 

period of initial application. The nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of the 

revised IFRS 3 and the amendments to IAS 27 are described below. 

 

IFRS 3 (revised), IAS 27 (revised), IAS 28 (revised)  Business Combinations – Comprehensive 

revision on applying the acquisition method (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 

2009) 
 

IFRS 3 (Revised) and IAS 27 (Revised) with consequential changes to IAS 28 (Revised) place greater 

emphasis on the use of fair value. The revised statements focus on changes in control as a significant 

economic event, introducing requirements to remeasure ownership interests to fair value at the time 

when control is achieved or lost, and recognising directly in equity the impact of all transactions between 

controlling and non-controlling (previously known as minority) shareholders not involving a loss of 

control. The revisions also focus on what is given to the seller as consideration, rather than what is 

spent to achieve the acquisition. Transaction costs changes in the value of contingent considerations, 

settlement of pre-existing contracts, share-based payments and similar items will generally be 

accounted for separately from business combinations and will generally affect profit or loss. An option 

will also now be given to recognise any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or 

at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of net identifiable assets of the entity acquired.  

 

A further change will be the requirement at acquisition to reclassify and redesignate all contractual 

arrangements, excluding leases and insurance contracts. 

 

The Group will apply IFRS 3 (Revised), IAS 27 (Revised) and the consequential changes to IAS 28 

(Revised) prospectively to all business combinations from 1 January 2010. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 

(a) Basis of Preparation 

 

The consolidated financial statements, which are expressed in United States dollars, are prepared in 

accordance with the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.  

The consolidated financial statements are drawn up in accordance with IFRS.  

 

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates and judgements that affect the 

application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses 

as well as the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities.  Although these estimates are based on 

management's best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may actually differ from 

these estimates.  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions used that are significant to the 

consolidated financial statements, and areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, are 

disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

(b) Functional and Presentation Currency 

 

The functional currency of the Company, its Indonesian subsidiaries and a number of its other 

subsidiaries is the United States dollar. Because of the international nature of the crude palm oil and 

soybean products that the Group is principally engaged in and the fact that the transactions are usually 

denominated in or derived from United States dollar, the directors are of the opinion that the United 

States dollar reflects the primary economic environment in which the entities operate. 

 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollar, which is the Company’s 

functional currency and presentation currency. 
 
 

(c) Basis of Consolidation  

 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries (the "Group") made up to 31 December.  

 

Subsidiaries are entities over which any of the Group companies generally has the power to govern the 

financial and operating policies of the company so as to obtain benefits from its activities, which 

generally accompanies a shareholding of more than 50% of the voting rights. The financial statements 

of subsidiaries acquired or disposed during the year are included in or excluded from the consolidated 

financial statements from the effective date of acquisition or disposal. 

 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries.  The cost of 

an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities 

incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 

are measured initially at their fair values on the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any 

minority interests. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, balances, transactions and any unrealised profit or 

loss on inter-company transactions between Group entities are eliminated.  Accounting policies of 

subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 

the Group. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(c) Basis of Consolidation (cont’d) 

 

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the 

Group’s equity therein.  Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the 

original business combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the 

combination.  Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s 

equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except to the extent that the minority has a 

binding obligation and is able to make an individual investment to cover losses. 

 

Business combinations which involve the transfer of net assets or the exchange of shares between 

entities under common control are accounted for as a uniting of interests. The financial information 

included in the consolidated financial statements reflects the combined results of the entities concerned 

as if the merger had been in effect for all periods presented.  

 

 

(d) Associated Companies 

 

Associated companies are entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, which 

generally occurs when the Group has a direct or indirect ownership interest of 20% to 50% or is in a 

position to exercise significant influence on the financial and operating policy decisions, and are 

accounted for by the equity method.  Under the equity method, the cost of investment less impairment 

losses is increased or decreased by the Group's share in net profits or losses and other equity changes 

of the associated company since the date of acquisition.  Losses of an associated company in excess of 

the Group's interest in that associated company (which includes any long-term receivables, which in 

substance, form part of the Group's net investments in that associated company) are not recognised. 

 

Goodwill relating to an associated company is included as part of the carrying amount of the investment, 

and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment. 
 
 

(e) Foreign Currencies  

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the respective functional currencies of the companies 

in the Group at the exchange rates prevailing at the time the transactions are entered into.  Currency 

translation differences arising from settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at exchange rates prevailing at the end of the 

reporting period are recognised in the income statement. 

 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of transactions.  Non-monetary items that are measured 

at fair value in foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was 

determined.  Currency translation differences on non-monetary items are recognised as part of the fair 

value gain or loss in profit or loss, except for translation differences on available-for-sale financial 

assets, which are recognised in other comprehensive income.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(e) Foreign Currencies (cont’d) 

 

In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of those subsidiaries 

whose functional currency is not the United States dollar (i.e. “foreign entities”) have been translated to 

United States dollar, the presentation currency of the Company, as follows: 

 

(i) assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates approximating those 

prevailing at the end of the reporting period; 

 

(ii) share capital and reserves are translated at historical exchange rate; and  

 

(iii) income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the period 

(unless the average rate is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of 

the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case, income and expenses are 

translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions). 

 

Exchange differences arising from the above translations are recognised in other comprehensive 

income and these are accumulated in foreign currency translation reserve within equity.  Such 

cumulative translation differences are reclassified from equity to income statement in the period in which 

the foreign entity is disposed of. 

 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investments in foreign 

entities (including monetary items that in substance form part of the net investments in foreign entities) 

are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 

 

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment  

 

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 

losses where the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be lower than its carrying amount. 

 

 Freehold land is not depreciated.  Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 

the depreciable amount over the following estimated useful lives: 

  No. of years 

 Storage tanks, land improvements and bridges   - 50 

 Buildings  - 20 to 50 

 Machinery and equipment  - 4 to 25 

 Furniture and fixtures  - 5 to 10 

 Transportation equipment  - 5 to 10 

 

Land rights in the China Agri-business segment which have finite economic lives are amortised over the 

terms of the land rights, which range from 46 to 50 years.  Amortisation commences upon obtaining 

regulatory approval from the relevant authorities. Land rights in the Indonesia Agri-business division are 

carried at cost less any impairment losses and not subject to amortisation. 

 

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on the same basis as 

owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant leases. 

 

The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as 

appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d) 

 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future 

economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 

measured reliably. 

 

The cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to the income statement as incurred; significant 

renewals and improvements are capitalised.  When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, their 

carrying amounts are derecognised and any resulting gains or losses are recognised in the income 

statement. 

 

The cost of construction in progress represents all costs (including borrowing costs on such borrowings) 

attributable to bringing the constructed asset to its working condition and getting it ready for its intended 

use.  The accumulated costs will be reclassified to the appropriate asset class when the construction is 

completed. No depreciation charge is provided for construction in progress until the assets are 

transferred and used in operations. 

 

 

(g) Biological Assets  
 

Biological assets include mature plantations, immature plantations and nurseries that are established or 
acquired by the Group. 

 

Plantations are stated at fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs from initial recognition up to the 

point of harvest.  Any resultant gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in the 

income statement.  

 

Nurseries are recognised at fair value which is normally the costs incurred in the preparation of the 

nursery, purchase of seedlings and their maintenance.  The accumulated costs will be transferred to 

immature plantations at the time of planting.  An oil palm plantation is considered mature when such 

plantations start to produce at the beginning of the fourth year. 

 

 

(h) Deferred Charges 

 

All incidental costs, incurred in connection with the acquisition or renewal of land rights, are capitalised 

and amortised over the term of the related land rights. 

 

Costs incurred for acquisition of computer software, whose benefits extend over a period of more than 

one year, are being capitalised and amortised, over the periods benefited using the straight-line method. 

 

 

(i) Brands and Trademarks 

 

Brands and trademarks are initially stated at acquisition cost and subsequently carried at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and any impairment loss.  The cost is amortised through the income 

statement over their estimated useful lives of 20 years using the straight-line method. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

(j) Goodwill 

 

The excess of the cost of a business combination over the fair value of the Group's share of the 

identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiaries accounted for under the purchase method is initially 

recognised as ''Goodwill'' in the consolidated financial statements.  Subsequently, goodwill is carried at 

cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or when 

circumstances change, indicating that goodwill might be impaired.  If the Group's interest in the net fair 

value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of acquisition, the 

Group will reassess the identification and measurement of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities and the measurement of the cost of acquisition, and any excess thereafter is 

recognised as an income immediately. 

 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating 

units.  If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to 

the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each 

asset in the unit.  An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. 

 

 

(k) Financial Assets 

 

The Group classifies its non-derivative financial assets in the following categories: loans and 

receivables, fair value through profit or loss, and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the 

purpose for which the financial assets are acquired. Management determines the classification of its 

financial assets at initial recognition. 

 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market.  They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly 

to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable.  The Group’s loans and receivables comprise 

trade and other receivables.  Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value which is 

normally the original invoiced amount plus any directly attributable transaction costs, and subsequently 

carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Appropriate allowances for estimated 

irrecoverable amounts are recognised in income statement when there is objective evidence that the 

asset is impaired.  The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest 

rate computed at initial recognition.  Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the 

loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. Financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value with subsequent changes in fair 

value recognised in the income statement. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(k) Financial Assets (cont’d) 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not 

classified in any other category.  Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value 

plus any directly attributable transaction costs, and subsequently carried at fair value with gains and 

losses being recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised or until the 

investment is determined to be impaired at which time the previous gain or loss that has been 

recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to the income statement.  

Available-for-sale financial assets are stated at cost if it does not have a quoted market price in an 

active market and accordingly the fair value cannot be reliably measured.  Impairment losses 

recognised in the income statement for investments in equity instruments classified as available-for-sale 

are not subsequently reversed through the income statement. 

 

 

(l) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

 Cash and cash equivalents classified under current assets comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and 

time deposits which are short-term, highly liquid assets that are readily convertible into known amounts 

of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.  For the purpose of the 

consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents 

as defined above, net of time deposits pledged as security. 

 

 

(m) Inventories 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is determined by the weighted 

average method for raw materials and finished goods and by the moving average method for other 

inventories, such as spare parts and fuel, chemical and packing supplies and others.  Net realisable 

value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of completion 

and costs necessary to make the sale. 

 

 

(n) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets excluding Goodwill 

 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets 

to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or 

whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years may no 

longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 

estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss.  An asset's recoverable amount is 

calculated as the higher of the asset's value in use and/or its fair value less cost to sell. 

 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  If the recoverable 

amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  Impairment 

loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 

amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(n) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets excluding Goodwill (cont’d) 

 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 

unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that it does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment 

loss been recognised.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as an income immediately, unless 

the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is 

treated as a revaluation increase. 

 

 

(o) Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting 

 

Derivative financial instruments are used to manage exposures to foreign exchange and commodity 

price risks arising from operational activities.  

 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at cost and are subsequently re-measured at fair 

value.  The changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognised immediately in the income 

statement unless the derivative qualifies for hedge accounting where the recognition of any changes in 

the fair value depend on the nature of the item being hedged. 

 

When a derivative is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or 

liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective portion is recognised in other 

comprehensive income.  When the forecast transaction subsequently results in a recognition of a non-

financial asset or non-financial liability, or the forecast transaction for a non-financial asset or non-

financial liability becomes a firm commitment for which the fair value hedge accounting is applied, the 

associated cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred 

to the carrying amount of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability. For other cash flow hedges, 

the associated cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is 

transferred to the income statement in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast 

transaction affects the income statement.  The ineffective portion of any changes in the fair value of the 

derivative are recognised immediately in the profit or loss. 

 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation 

of the hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative 

gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income remains there and is recognised in 

accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer 

expected to take place, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income is transferred to the profit or loss. 

 

 

(p) Share Capital 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new 

equity instruments, other than for the acquisition of a business, are taken to equity as a deduction, net of 

tax, from the proceeds. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(q) Dividend Distribution 

 

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s 

financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. 

 

 

(r) Trade and Other Payables 

 

Trade and other payables are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the 

future for goods and services received. Interest-bearing payables are recognised initially at cost less 

attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing payables are stated at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

 

(s) Interest-Bearing Borrowings 

 

Interest-bearing borrowings are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.  Direct 

issue costs are amortised over the term of each borrowing.  Finance charges are accounted for on an 

accrual basis in the income statement using the effective interest method. 
 

 

(t) Leases 

 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 

Assets held under finance leases and the related lease obligations are recognised in the statement of 

financial position at the fair value of the leased assets at the inception of the leases.  The excess of the 

lease payments over the recorded lease obligations is treated as a financial expense which is amortised 

over each lease term to give a constant rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligation. 

 

Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement in equal annual amounts 

over the period of the lease. 
 
 

(u) Borrowing Costs 

 

Interest expense and similar charges are expensed in the income statement in the period in which they 

are incurred, except to the extent they are capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition and 

construction of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to be prepared for its 

intended use or sale. 

 

Certain subsidiaries capitalise borrowing costs, including interest and other financial charges on 

borrowings used to finance the construction of factories, expansion of plantations, construction of fixed 

assets and development of properties.  Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities 

necessary to prepare the related assets for their intended use or sale are completed.  The capitalised 

costs are depreciated over the same periods and on the same basis as the underlying assets. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(v) Provisions 

 

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 

past event and it is probable that it will result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably 

estimated. 

 

 

(w) Income Tax 

 

Current income tax for current and prior years is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or 

recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 

 Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 

Deferred income tax is recognised in the income statement, except when it relates to items recognised 

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred income tax is also dealt 

with in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.  Deferred income tax assets and 

liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.  Deferred income 

tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax income asset is realised or the 

deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 

 Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 

be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.  

 

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 

associated companies except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 

controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
 

(x) Employee Benefits  

 

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense, unless the cost qualified to be capitalised as an 

asset. 

 

The Group participates in the national pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which 

it has operations.  Contributions made into separate stated managed entities, such as the Central 

Provident Fund under a defined contribution plan, on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis with no 

further payment obligation once the contributions have been paid are recognised in the income 

statement in the period in which the related service is performed. 

 

Certain subsidiaries have defined contribution retirement plans covering substantially all of their eligible 

permanent employees.  The Group’s contributions to the funds are computed at certain percentage of 

the basic income for its employees.   

 

Certain subsidiaries also recognise additional provisions for employee service entitlements in 

accordance with the Indonesian Labor Law No. 13/2003 dated 25 March 2003 (the “Labor Law”).  The 

said additional provisions, which are unfunded, are estimated using the projected unit credit method, 

with actuarial calculations based on the report prepared by an independent actuary. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(x) Employee Benefits (cont’d) 

 

Actuarial gains or losses are amortised on a straight-line method over the expected average remaining 

working lives.  Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already 

vested, and otherwise are amortised over the average period until the benefits become vested. 

 

The related estimated liability for employee benefits is the difference between the present value of the 

estimated employee service entitlement based on the Labor Law and the projected cumulative funding 

based on the defined contribution plan. 

 
 

(y) Government Grants 

 

In 2009, the Singapore government introduced the job credit scheme, a cash grant to help businesses to 

preserve jobs.  The job credit will be paid to eligible employers and the amounts of job credit an 

employer can receive would depend on the fulfillment of the conditions as stated in the scheme.  Cash 

grants received from the government in relation to the job credit scheme are recognised as an offset 

against staff costs upon receipt. 
 
 

(z) Revenue Recognition 

 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 

and the revenue can be reliably measured.  Revenue is recognised in the income statement as follows: 

 

(i) Revenue from sales arising from physical delivery of products is recognised when delivery has 

taken place and transfer of risks and rewards has been completed.   

 

(ii) Revenue from processing, shipping, repair services and trucking services is recognised when 

the services are rendered. 

 

(iii) Rental income is recognised over the term of the lease contracts. 

 

(iv) Dividend income from investments is recognised on the date the dividends are declared 

payable by the investees. 

 

(v) Interest income is accrued on a time-proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding 

and at the effective interest rate applicable. 
 
 

(aa) Segment Reporting 

 

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Executive Committee of the Group, which 

consist of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Executive Directors. This committee reviews the 

Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Operating segments are 

reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 
3  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

(aa) Segment Reporting (cont’d) 

 

 The Executive Committee assess the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of 

adjusted earnings before income tax, minority interests, interests on borrowings, foreign exchange 

gain/(loss), depreciation and amortisation, exceptional item and share of results of associated companies 

(“EBITDA”).  All inter segment sales and transfers are accounted for as if the sales or transfers were to 

third parties, i.e. at current market price. 

 

 
 

4 Financial Risk Management  

 

(a) Capital Risk Management 
 

The Group manages its capital to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order 

to maximise the return to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged since 

2008. 

 

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising 

share capital, share premium, reserves and retained earnings and net debts, which includes the 

borrowings and net of cash and cash equivalents.   

 

Neither the Group nor the Company is subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

The net debts-to-equity ratio as at 31 December 2009 and 2008 are as follows: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Total borrowings 683,197  553,917 

 Cash and cash equivalents (287,539)  (133,214) 

 Net debts 395,658  420,703 

     

 Equity attributable to owners of the Company 5,437,693  4,613,726 

     

 Net debts-to-equity ratio 0.07  0.09 

 

The directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.  As a part of the review, the directors 

consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.  Accordingly, the Group 

will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share 

buy-back as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. 

 

 

(b) Financial Risk Management 
 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risks (including interest rate risk, 

foreign currency risk, price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, and cash flow risks. The Group’s overall risk 

management strategy seeks to minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on 

the Group’s financial performance.  The Group may use relevant financial instruments to manage 

certain risks.  Such financial instruments are not held for trade or speculative purposes.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

4 Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 

(b) Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 

(i) Interest Rate Risk 

 

The Group’s exposure to cash flow and fair value interest rate risk arises primarily on its existing 

interest-bearing borrowings. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flow of borrowings 

at variable rate will fluctuate because of changes to market interest rates.  Fair value interest rate risk is 

the risk that the fair values of borrowings at fixed rate will fluctuate because of changes to market 

interest rates. The interest rate that the Group will be able to obtain on debt financing will depend on 

market conditions at that time, and may differ from the rates the Group has secured currently.  

 

At 31 December 2009, if interest rates on all borrowings at variable rate had been 0.5% higher/lower 

with all other variables held constant, profit before income tax and total equity for the year would have 

been approximately US$3,054,000 and US$2,419,000 (2008: US$2,406,000 and US$1,782,000) 

lower/higher respectively, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on the variable rate 

borrowings.  This analysis is prepared assuming the amount of borrowings outstanding at the end of the 

reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. 

 

In respect of interest-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities, the interest rates 

and repayment terms are disclosed in the respective notes to the consolidated financial statements. The 

tables below set out the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments at 

carrying amount. 

 
 2009        2008 

 US$'000 US$'000 

Financial Assets   

Variable rate 334,785 152,568 

Fixed rate 39,535 6,235 

Non-interest bearing 173,927 224,168 

 548,247 382,971 

   

Financial Liabilities   

Variable rate 606,195 479,979 
Fixed rate 178,526 150,223 

Non-interest bearing 228,193 100,196 

 1,012,914 730,398 

 
 

(ii) Foreign Currency Risk 

 

The Group operates in several countries.  Entities within the Group regularly transact in currencies other 

than their respective functional currency (“foreign currency”) such as Indonesian rupiah (“IDR”), the 

Chinese renminbi (“RMB”) and the United States dollar (“USD”) which is also the Group’s presentation 

currency.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

4 Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 
 

(b) Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 
 
(ii)��� Foreign Currency Risk (cont’d) 

 

Sales to domestic customers within Indonesia and China are denominated in their local currencies, 

while export sales for most of the Group’s products and cost of certain key purchases are quoted in 

United States dollar. Purchases and operating expenses in Indonesia and China are mainly 

denominated in their local currencies.  To the extent that the revenue and purchases of the Group are 

denominated in different currencies, and may not evenly match in terms of quantum and/or timing, the 

Group has exposure to foreign currency risk. 
 
The Group seeks to manage its foreign currency exposure by constructing a natural hedge where it 
matches revenue and expenses in any single currency or through financial instruments.  The Group is 
also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign operations.  These 
net investments are not hedged as currency positions in these foreign operations are considered long-
term in nature. 
 
If the relevant foreign currencies strengthen/weaken against USD by 5% at the end of the reporting 
period, with all other variables, including interest rates remain constant, the Group’s profit before income 
tax would all increase/decrease by the amounts shown as follows: 
 

     2009         2008 

   US$'000 US$'000 

   

IDR (1,713) 1,460 

RMB 4,897 2,690 

 
  

(iii) Price Risk 

 

Price risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 

market prices.  The Group's exposure to price risk relates to its trading activities of commodities.  The 

Group monitors market closely to ensure that the risk exposure to the volatility of the commodities is 

kept minimum. 

 

 

(iv) Credit Risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counter-party to a financial instrument 

fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from 

customers and cash and cash equivalents.  The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by 

the individual characteristics of each customer.  The Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of its 

customers’ financial conditions.  Customers may be required to provide security in terms of cash 

deposits or letters of credit.   

 

Cash and cash equivalents mainly comprise deposits with reputable banks with acceptable credit 

ratings. 

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counter-parties fail to perform their obligations 

as at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of assets in the statement of 

financial position.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

4 Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 

(b) Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 

(v) Significant Concentrations of Credit Risk 

 

Concentrations of credit risk exists when changes in economic, industry or geographical factors similarly 

affect counter-parties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the Group’s total 

credit exposure.  

 

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of 

counter-parties and customers. 

 

 

(vi) Liquidity Risk 

  

To manage liquidity risk, the Group maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents and funding facilities 

deemed adequate by management to finance its operations.  In assessing the adequacy of the facilities, 

management reviews its working capital requirements. The table below analyses the maturity profile of 

the Group’s financial liabilities based on the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

 
 Less than  

1 year 
 

1 to 5 years 
Over 

5 years 
 

Total 

At 31 December 2009 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 

     

Borrowings 315,980 328,326 43,346 687,652 

Other financial liabilities 329,717 - - 329,717 

Total Financial Liabilities 645,697 328,326 43,346 1,017,369 

     
 Less than  

1 year 
 

1 to 5 years 
Over 

 5 years 
 

Total 

At 31 December 2008 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 

     

Borrowings 310,209 223,884 21,026 555,119 

Other financial liabilities 176,481 - - 176,481 

Total Financial Liabilities 486,690 223,884 21,026 731,600 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

5 Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements  

 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  Estimates, assumptions and 

judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

(a) Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 

 

(i) Impairment of Goodwill 

 

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the 

accounting policy stated in Note 3(j).  The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units are 

determined from value in use calculations.  The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are 

those regarding the discount rates and expected changes in crude palm oil (“CPO”) prices and direct 

costs during the period.  The growth and discount rates are based on industry forecasts.  Changes in 

CPO prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the 

market.  As of 31 December 2009, there is no impairment loss recognised in the financial statements 

and the carrying amount of goodwill amounted to US$115,898,000 (2008: US$115,898,000) (Note 27). 

 

 

(ii) Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment  

 

 The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the period over which 

the assets are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of property, plant and 

equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due 

to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of 

the relevant assets.  In addition, the estimation of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment are 

based on the collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience 

with similar assets.  It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially affected 

by changes in the estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.  The amounts and 

timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in these factors and 

circumstances.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment and 

plantation assets would increase the recorded expenses and decrease the non-current assets.  

 

 There is no significant change in the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment during the 

period.  The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as of 31 December 2009 amounted to 

US$1,102,608,000 (2008: US$971,004,000) (Note 22).  

 

 

(iii) Fair Value of Biological Assets 

 

The Group determined the fair value of biological assets using the discounted cash flow method. The 

key assumptions for the discounted cash flow calculations are those regarding the average lives of 

plantations, yields per hectare, extraction rates, discount rates, expected changes in CPO and palm 

kernel prices and direct costs during the period as discussed in Note 23.  The amount of changes in fair 

value would be different if there are changes to the assumptions used.  A decrease in fair value would 

decrease the gain recognised during the year and the carrying value of biological assets.  As of 31 

December 2009, the carrying amount of biological assets amounted to US$5,357,537,000 (2008: 

US$4,794,558,000) (Note 23). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 

 
 

5 Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements (cont'd) 

 

(a) Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions (cont’d) 

 

(iv) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets excluding Goodwill 

 

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the non-financial assets as at the end of each reporting 

period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the 

assets recoverable amount or value in use is estimated.  Determining the value in use of property, plant 

and equipment and other long-lived assets, which require the determination of future cash flows 

expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets, requires the 

Group to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the financial statements.  Any 

resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on the Group's financial position and 

results of operations.  

 

 The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves significant judgement and estimations.  

While the Group believes that the assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in 

the assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable amounts and may lead to future 

impairment charges.  As of 31 December 2009, there is no significant impairment loss on non-financial 

assets recognised in the financial statements.  

 

 

(v) Post Employment Benefits  

 

 The present value of the post employment benefits obligations and cost for post employment benefits 

are dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts. 

Those assumptions, which include among others, discount rates and rates of salary increase, are 

described in Note 36. In accordance with IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, actual results that differ from the 

assumptions are accumulated and amortised over future periods and therefore, generally affect the 

recognised expense and recorded obligation in such future periods.  While the Group believes that the 

assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or 

significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the post employment benefits obligations.  

As of 31 December 2009, the estimated post employment benefits liabilities amounted to 

US$23,042,000 (2008: US$15,573,000) (Note 36).  

  

 

 (b)   Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

 

(i) Income Taxes 

 

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.  Significant judgement is required in 

determining the capital allowances, deductibility of certain expenses and taxability of certain income 

during the estimation of the provision for income taxes.  There are many transactions and calculations 

for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.  The Group 

recognises liabilities based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  Where the final tax 

outcome is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 

income tax expenses and income tax payable in the period in which such determination is made. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

5 Critical Accounting Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements (cont'd) 
 

 (b)   Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

(ii) Deferred Tax Assets 

 

 The Group's assessment on the recognition of deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences 

is based on the forecast taxable income of the following reporting period.  This forecast is based on the 

Group's past results and future expectations on revenue and expenses.  A decrease in estimated future 

income would decrease the recognised deferred tax credit and deferred tax assets.  As of 31 December 

2009, the Group has deferred tax assets of US$18,499,000 (2008: US$12,252,000) (Note 24).  

 

 

 

6 Revenue 

      

  Note 2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

 Sales in Indonesia     

  Third parties  485,030  736,758 

  Associated companies  21,515  42,441 

  Related parties  5,351  6,775 

   511,896  785,974 

 Sales outside Indonesia     

  Third parties  1,778,109  2,195,702 

  Related parties 40a 3,694  4,272 

   1,781,803  2,199,974 

      

 Total revenue  2,293,699  2,985,948 

 

 

   2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      
 Sales in Indonesia     

   Palm oil based products:     

  Crude palm oil  142,694  252,539 

  Margarine and fat  30,405  41,626 

  Palm fatty acid distillate  2,506  3,156 

  Palm kernel  37,985  66,405 

  Palm kernel meal  2,054  4,330 

  Palm kernel oil  1,830  11,335 

  Refined bleached deodorised olein  217,186  297,610 

  Refined bleached deodorised stearin  29,143  49,924 

  Refined bleached deodorised palm oil  17,654  24,298 

  Refined bleached deodorised palm kernel oil  9,598  13,060 

  Others  8,957  1,606 

  Sub total  500,012  765,889 

  Oleochemical products  11,876  18,374 

  Other products  8  1,711 

 Total sales in Indonesia  511,896  785,974 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

6 Revenue (cont’d) 

 

   2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 Sales outside Indonesia     

   Palm oil based products:      

  Crude palm oil  836,730  1,159,728 

  Margarine and fat  36,545  31,513 

  Palm fatty acid distillate  16,260  19,190 

  Palm kernel meal  7,497  12,682 

  Palm kernel oil  59,817  83,722 

  Refined bleached deodorised olein  164,880  210,116 

  Refined bleached deodorised palm oil  15,034  39,932 

  Refined bleached deodorised palm kernel oil  2,268  620 

  Refined bleached deodorised stearin  36,131  30,496 

  Others  42,112  35,282 

  Sub total  1,217,274  1,623,281 

   Oleochemical products  32,596  30,836 

   Soy bean based products  527,963  542,551 

   Revenue from provision of port and storage facilities  3,970  3,306 

 Total sales outside Indonesia  1,781,803  2,199,974 

      

 Total revenue  2,293,699  2,985,948 

      
 

 
 

7 Cost of Sales  

      

   2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 Cost of inventories recognised as expenses  1,648,760  1,979,472 

 Depreciation charge for the year  54,120  46,200 

 Processing and direct costs  81,389  84,159 

   1,784,269  2,109,831 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

8 Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

      

   2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

 Selling expenses:     

    Transportation  40,315  42,791 

    Advertising and promotions  9,701  8,527 

    Export tax and administration  8,310  157,674 

    Salaries and employee benefits expense  6,242  5,138 

  Bulking  2,508  1,420 

    Depreciation  1,604  1,441 

    Others  9,495  11,881 

   78,175  228,872 

 General and administrative expenses:     

   Salaries and employee benefits expense  76,330  71,096 

   Depreciation  11,048  10,009 

   Rent, tax and licenses  6,697  6,437 

   Travelling  6,112  7,277 

   Professional fees  2,763  4,068 

   Office supplies  1,008  1,198 

 Amortisation of deferred charges, brands and trademarks  471  371 

   Management fees  45  5,044 

   Others  11,958  12,626 

   116,432  118,126 

      

   194,607  346,998 

      
 
 
 

9 Financial Income and Financial Expenses 

      

  Note 2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

 Interest income from:     

  Third parties  5,290  3,901 

  Associated company  577  1,016 

  Related parties 40a 571  927 

 Financial income  6,438  5,844 

      

 Interest on borrowings from:     

  Third parties  (44,036)  (39,040) 

  Associated company  -  (59) 

  Related parties 40a -  (28) 

 Amortisation of deferred loan charges  (2,314)  (815) 

 Total interest expenses  (46,350)  (39,942) 

 Finance charges  (1,431)  (1,318) 

 Financial expenses  (47,781)  (41,260) 

      

 Financial expenses, net  (41,343)  (35,416) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

10 Other Operating Income, Net 

      

   2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 Gain from changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 

  

3,827 

  

- 

 Gain on sale of other materials and by-products  2,728  3,854 

 Miscellaneous income   2,564  716 

 Shipping income  1,314  923 

 Insurance claims  1,017  294 

 Workshop income  903  788 

 Property, plant and equipment written off  (720)  (998) 

 Depreciation  (667)  (428) 

 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (382)  (1,004) 

 Impairment of other receivables  (155)  - 

 Receivables written off  -  (476) 

 Others  2,545  1,716 

   12,974  5,385 

      

 

 
 

11 Profit Before Income Tax 

 

In addition to the expenses and credits disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, this item includes the following expenses: 

  Note 2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 Employee compensation     

  Wages and salaries  78,647  71,575 

  Post employment benefits expense 36 4,546  4,777 

  Employer’s contributions to defined contribution 

plans 

  

1,189 

  

1,230 

 

 

 

12 Income Tax 

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Income tax (credit)/expense attributable to the profit is made up of:    

  Current income tax 95,299  114,256 

    Deferred income tax (115,970)  412,713 

    Share of taxes of associated companies 1,184  1,446 

    (19,487)  528,415 

 

Substantially all the Group’s operations are located in Indonesia.  Accordingly, the Indonesian statutory 

tax rate is used in the reconciliation of the tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by 

the applicable tax rate.  During the financial year, the Indonesian corporate tax rate was reduced from 

30% to 28%. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

12 Income Tax (cont’d) 

 

The income tax expense on the results for the financial year varies from the amount of income tax 

determined by applying the Indonesian statutory rate of income tax to profit before income tax due to the 

following factors:  

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Profit before income tax 593,146  1,947,060 

 Less: Share of results of associated companies, net (6,782)  (5,382) 

  586,364  1,941,678 

     

 Tax calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2008: 30%) 164,182  582,503 

 Effect of reduction in tax rates (192,083)  (28,737) 

 Effect of different tax rates in other countries 7,449  (16,605) 

 Permanent differences arising mainly from remeasurement, net of 

non-deductible expenses 

 

20,138 

  

(37,584) 

 Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (16,954)  (2,031) 

 Income tax at preferential rate (5,880)  (10,903) 

 Unrecognised deferred tax assets 2,430  37,476 

  (20,718)  524,119 

 Add: Share of taxes of associated companies 1,184  1,446 

 Add: Tax deducted at source 47  2,850 

  (19,487)  528,415 

 

Taxes Payable 

 As at the end of the financial year, the details of taxes payable are as follows: 

 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Estimated income tax payable of subsidiaries 22,020  21,957 

 Income and other taxes    

   Article 21 2,648  2,002 

   Article 23 3,449  2,392 

   Article 25 6,956  5,872 

   Article 26 47  16 

 Value added tax 3,305  728 

 Total 38,425  32,967 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

13 Earnings Per Share and Net Asset Value Per Share 

 

a) Basic Earnings Per Share 

 

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit attributable to the equity holders 

of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.  

 

  2009  2008 

     

 Profit attributable to the owners of the Company (US$’000) 606,962  1,382,526 

     

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares* (‘000) 11,557,969  11,066,600 

     

 Basic earnings per share (US cents) 5.25  12.49 

 

* Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year has been adjusted for the effect of Bonus 

Shares and Rights Issue in 2009. 

 

 

b) Diluted Earnings Per Share 

 

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profit attributable to the equity holders of the 

Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year plus the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares that would be in issue on the conversion of all the dilutive potential 

ordinary shares into ordinary shares. 

 

The outstanding warrants issued pursuant to the Rights Issue in 2009 of 705,493,728 (2008: Nil) have 

not been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are anti-dilutive for the 

current financial year.  

 

  2009  2008 

     

 Profit attributable to the owners of the Company (US$’000) 606,962  1,382,526 

     

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares * (‘000) 11,557,969  11,066,600 

     

 Diluted earnings per share (US cents) 5.25  12.49 

 

* Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year has been adjusted for the effect of Bonus 

Shares and Rights Issue in 2009. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

13 Earnings Per Share and Net Asset Value Per Share (cont’d) 

 

c) Net Asset Value Per Share 

 

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing total equity attributable to the owners of the Company 

by the number of issued ordinary shares as at the end of the reporting period. 

 

  2009  2008 

     

 Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company (US$’000) 5,437,693  4,613,726 

     

 Number of ordinary shares as at the end of the reporting period 

(‘000) 

 

12,138,677 

  

9,975,904 

     

 Net asset value per share (US$) 0.45  0.46 

 

 

 

14 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents which represent cash on hand, cash in banks and time deposits with a 

maturity of less than three months are detailed as follows:  

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Cash on hand 409  440 

     

 Cash in banks    

  United States dollar 129,948  37,476 

  Indonesian rupiah 54,370  17,867 

  Chinese renminbi 44,355  46,035 

  Singapore dollar 1,383  748 

  Others 108  82 

  230,164  102,208 
 Time deposits    

  United States dollar 47,193  17,405 

  Indonesian rupiah 9,144  9,538 

  Chinese renminbi 629  3,623 

  56,966  30,566 

     

 Total 287,539  133,214 

 

The above bank balances include balances with related parties (Note 40a) of US$203,000 (2008: 

US$716,000).  For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash and cash 

equivalents consist of the following: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Total cash and cash equivalents 287,539  133,214 

 Less: Time deposits pledged (7,630)  (4,608) 

  279,909  128,606 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

14 Cash and Cash Equivalents (cont’d) 

 

The above time deposits earn interest at the following rates per annum: 

   2009  2008 

  %  % 

 United States dollar 0.1 – 3.5  0.1 – 6.5 

 Indonesian rupiah 5.5 – 14.5  5.2 – 13.0 

 Chinese renminbi 1.2 – 2.3  1.5 – 4.1 

     

 

 

15 Short-Term Investments 

 

Short-term investments which represent investments in quoted bonds, placements in mutual funds and 

time deposits with a maturity over three months but not more than one year are detailed as follows: 

   2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Time deposits (a)    

  Chinese renminbi 31,879  2,612 

  Indonesian rupiah -  596 

  31,879  3,208 

     

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss    

   Quoted bonds, denominated in United States dollar 31,985  - 

   Quoted equity, denominated in Indonesian rupiah 6  6 

   Mutual funds, denominated in Indonesian rupiah 1,971  1,342 

  33,962  1,348 

     

  65,841  4,556 

 

The above time deposits earn interest at the following rates per annum: 

   2009  2008 

  %  % 

 Chinese renminbi 1.2 – 2.3  1.5 – 4.1 

 Indonesian rupiah -  12.0 

     

(a)  These time deposits have been pledged to banks as security for credit facilities (see Notes 28 

and 32). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

16 Trade Receivables 

      

  Note 2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 Third parties 101,184  139,836 

 Associated companies 97  53 

 Related parties 40a 1,939  1,424 

  103,220  141,313 

 Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables (555)  (483) 

  102,665  140,830 

      

Movements in allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Balance as at beginning of the year 483  560 

 Receivables written off against allowance during the year (1)  (171) 

 Translation adjustments 73  94 

 Balance as at end of the year 555  483 

 

As at 31 December 2009, 13% (2008: 10%) and 1% (2008: 2%) of the Group’s trade receivables are 

past due for less than 3 months and more than 3 months respectively.  The above allowance for 

impairment of trade receivables is made for certain receivables that are past due for more than 3 

months and the recovery of these amounts is impossible. 

 

The trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 United States dollar 63,886  108,009 

 Indonesian rupiah 23,033  17,996 

 Chinese renminbi 15,746  14,825 

  102,665  140,830 

 

Trade receivables of the Group, including intra-group trade receivables, amounting to US$16,538,000 

(2008: US$30,146,000) have been pledged as security for credit facilities (see Notes 28 and 32). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

17 Other Current Assets 

     

  Note 2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Receivable from third parties 
#
 15,404  21,068 

 Receivable from related parties * 40a 30,549  29,002 

 Receivable from associated companies 14  47 

 Derivative receivable 1,053  - 

 Staff advances 3,905  2,917 

  50,925  53,034 

 Advances to suppliers 73,595  75,381 

 Prepaid value added tax 40,270  31,153 

 Prepaid expenses 12,194  10,404 

 Deposits 51,242  9,765 

 Others 1,303  1,060 

  229,529  180,797 

     

* The amounts receivable from related parties are unsecured and repayable on demand.  As at 31 

December 2009, included in the amounts receivable from related parties are US$15,896,000 (2008: 

US$15,648,000) which bears interest at the rate of 3.1% to 4.5% (2008: 3.3% to 6.4%) per annum.  

 
# 

The amount shown is net of allowance for impairment.  Movements in allowance for impairment of 

other receivables are as follows: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Balance as at beginning of the year 477  464 

 Allowance for impairment loss during the year 155  - 

 Translation adjustments  (12)  13 

 Balance as at end of the year 620  477 

 

The other current assets are denominated in the following currencies: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Indonesian rupiah 92,383  81,237 

 United States dollar 70,480  77,938 

 Chinese renminbi 63,741  19,378 

 Others 2,925  2,244 

  229,529  180,797 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

18 Inventories 

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Finished goods 91,789  58,729 

 Fertilisers and general material 81,800  82,895 

 Raw materials 189,501  69,516 

 Spare parts and fuel 11,164  10,886 

 Chemical and packing supplies 5,027  6,425 

 Goods in transit 27,314  1,257 

 Others 13,530  18,376 

  420,125  248,084 

     

During the financial year 2008, the Group recognised an allowance for net impairment loss of 

US$2,796,000 in cost of sales as the carrying amount of certain inventories was higher than the net 

realisable value due to reduction in selling prices.  

 

Inventories amounting to US$57,418,000 (2008: US$43,822,000) have been pledged to banks as 

security for credit facilities (see Notes 28 and 32).  

 

 

 

19 Long-Term Receivables and Assets 

     

   2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Loan receivable from:    

   Associated company (a) 7,027  6,535 

   Third party (b) 9,200  19,752 

  16,227  26,287 

     

 Tax recoverable 86,736  93,383 

 Advances for projects  32,211  44,984 

 Land clearing  5,563  7,539 

 Advances for project plasma plantations, net (c) 11,387  7,255 

 Advances for investment in land  3,959  3,557 

 Advances for non-operating assets 30  1,434 

 Others 3,111  2,351 

  159,224  186,790 

     

The long-term receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

   2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Indonesian rupiah 141,355  159,236 

 Japanese yen 9,200  19,752 

 United States dollar 8,669  7,802 

  159,224  186,790 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

19 Long-Term Receivables and Assets (cont’d) 
 

(a) The unsecured receivable bears interest at 8.5% (2008: 8.5%) per annum and is repayable by 

2014. 

 

(b) The loan receivable is non-interest bearing, secured and repayable by 10 July 2011.  The 

amount shown is net of allowance for impairment recognised during the year of US$9,199,000 

(2008: Nil). 

 

(c) In accordance with the policy of the Government of the Republic of Indonesia, certain land 

rights used to develop plantations are usually granted if a nucleus company agrees to develop 

areas for local small landholders (Plasma farmers) in addition to developing its own plantations.  

The nucleus company is also required to train and supervise the Plasma farmers and purchase 

the plantation production from the farmers at prices determined by the Government.  

 

A Plasma Program plantation is funded by an investment credit facility by designated banks to 

the Plasma farmers.  

 

Advances for Plasma plantations represent accumulated costs (including borrowing costs and 

indirect overhead costs) to develop Plasma areas, less the investment credit obtained from the 

bank.  When a Plasma plantation is completed and ready to be transferred or turned-over to 

the Plasma farmers, the corresponding investment credit from the bank is also transferred to 

the Plasma farmers.  Gain or loss resulting from the difference between the carrying amount of 

the Plasma plantation transferred and the related investment credit transferred is credited or 

charged to the income statement. 
 
 
 

20 Long-Term Investments 

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Available-for-sale financial asset    

 Unquoted equity shares, at cost 25,050  25,050 

     

The available-for-sale financial asset is denominated in United States dollar and stated at cost as it does 

not have a quoted market price in an active market and accordingly the fair value of this investment 

cannot be reliably measured. 

 

In the opinion of the directors, the recoverable amount of the above investment is not less than its 

carrying amount, on the basis that the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise 

from its operations over the next few years will exceed the carrying amount of the investment. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

21 Associated Companies 

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Unquoted equity shares, at cost 2,122  2,122 

 Share of post-acquisition profits, net of dividend received 4,298  2,284 

  6,420  4,406 

     

Particulars of the associated companies are disclosed in Note 42 to the consolidated financial 

statements.  Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's associated companies is as 

follows: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Assets and liabilities    

 Total assets 26,829  20,995 

 Total liabilities (19,600)  (17,153) 

 Net assets 7,229  3,842 

     

 Results    

 Revenue 50,862  53,675 

 Profit before income tax  15,260  6,621 

  

As at 31 December 2009, the accumulated losses not recognised for an associated company amounted 

to US$1,092,000 (2008: US$3,124,000) as such losses are in excess of the Group’s interest in that 

associated company. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

22 Property, Plant and Equipment 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Freehold 
land 

  
 

Land 
rights  

Storage tanks, 
land 

improvements 
and bridges  

 
 

Buildings  

 
Machinery  

and 
equipment  

Leasehold 
improvements, 
furniture and 

fixtures  

 
Transportation 

equipment  

 
Construction 
 in progress  

 
 

Total 

 US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000 

Cost                  
Balance at 

1.1.2009 
 

- 
 
140,271  104,231  370,520  535,019  65,673  108,969  98,516  1,423,199 

                  
Translation 

adjustment 
 

- 
 

(5)  -  1,269  (45)  (1)  (1)  191  1,408 
                  
Additions 7,354  12,736  5,394  11,849  4,768  7,050  19,135  125,913  194,199 
                  
Disposals -  -  -  (136)  (432)  (231)  (7,734)  (16)  (8,549) 
                  
Write off  -  -  (44)  (503)  (341)  (842)  (1,646)  (1)  (3,377) 
                  
Acquisition of 

subsidiaries 
 

- 
 

1,133  1,052  1,363  161  545  3,335  860  8,449 
                  
Transfers * -  -  9,311  44,768  22,368  (230)  4,667  (81,059)  (175) 

                  
Balance at 

31.12.2009 
 

7,354 
 
154,135  119,944  429,130  561,498  71,964  126,725  144,404  1,615,154 

                  
                  

Accumulated depreciation               
Balance at 

1.1.2009 
 

- 
 

7,775  17,982  96,436  200,339  56,789  68,147  4,727  452,195 
                  
Translation 

adjustment 
 

- 
 

-  -  18  (13)  (1)  (1)  (207)  (204) 
                  
Charge for the 

year 
 

- 
 

1,253  3,461  13,623  24,817  6,933  17,352  -  67,439 
                  
Disposals -  -  -  (24)  (327)  (201)  (4,643)  -  (5,195) 
                  
Write off  -  -  (34)  (238)  (172)  (819)  (1,394)  -  (2,657) 
                  
Acquisition of 

subsidiaries 
 

- 
 

35  191  -  23  134  585  -  968 
                  
Transfers -  -  -  32  530  (655)  93  -  - 

                  
Balance at 

31.12.2009 
 

- 
 

9,063  21,600  109,847  225,197  62,180  80,139  4,520  512,546 

                  
                  
Net book values               
At 31.12.2009 7,354  145,072  98,344  319,283  336,301  9,784  46,586  139,884  1,102,608 
                  

 

The Group holds land rights in Indonesia in the form of Hak Guna Usaha (HGU) with expiry dates 

between 2015 to 2098 and the management believes that those land rights can be extended upon 

expiry. Certain licenses and certificates are expiring and are in the process of being extended. 

 

* As at 31 December 2009, the Group has transferred US$152,000 and US$23,000 from property, plant 

and equipment to land clearing and deferred charges respectively.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

22 Property, Plant and Equipment (cont'd) 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Land 
rights  

Storage tanks, 
land 

improvements 
and bridges  

 
 

Buildings  

 
Machinery  

and 
equipment  

Leasehold 
improvements, 
furniture and 

fixtures  

 
Transportation 

equipment  

 
Construction 
 in progress  

 
 

Total 

 US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000 

Cost                
Balance at 

1.1.2008 108,502  77,366  309,419  454,266  60,867  90,432  71,132  1,171,984 
                
Translation 

adjustment 809  -  4,160  6,556  145  115  336  12,121 
                
Additions 24,614  9,656  3,983  21,690  4,335  22,095  93,100  179,473 
                
Disposals -  (538)  (1,679)  (5,903)  (894)  (7,536)  (172)  (16,722) 
                
Write off  -  (79)  (286)  (1,112)  (842)  (1,044)  (149)  (3,512) 
                
Acquisition of 

subsidiaries 
 

6,632  
 

-  
 

19,955  
 

45,374  
 

1,298  
 

2,521  
 

3,646  
 

79,426 
                
Transfers * (286)  17,826  34,968  14,148  764  2,386  (69,377)  429 

                
Balance at 

31.12.2008 140,271  104,231  370,520  535,019  65,673  108,969  98,516  1,423,199 
                
                

Accumulated depreciation              
Balance at 

1.1.2008 8,270  15,316  71,546  143,126  50,737  58,631  4,412  352,038 
                
Translation 

adjustment 124  -  857  2,272  86  60  315  3,714 
                
Charge for the 

year 419  2,747  11,051  22,960  6,418  14,055  -  57,650 
                
Disposals -  (45)  (306)  (2,542)  (609)  (4,727)  -  (8,229) 
                
Write off  -  (68)  (146)  (580)  (817)  (903)  -  (2,514) 
                
Acquisition of 

subsidiaries 
 

-  
 

-  
 

12,423  
 

35,107  
 

1,024  
 

982  
 

-  
 

49,536 
                
Transfers  (1,038)  32  1,011  (4)  (50)  49  -  - 

                
Balance at 

31.12.2008 7,775  17,982  96,436  200,339  56,789  68,147  4,727  452,195 
                
                
Net book values               
At 31.12.2008 132,496  86,249  274,084  334,680  8,884  40,822  93,789  971,004 
                
                
 

* As at 31 December 2008, there was a transfer to property, plant and equipment of US$429,000 as a 

net result of transfer from biological assets of US$850,000, and transfer to deferred charges and land 

clearing of US$300,000 and US$121,000 respectively. 

 
As at 31 December 2009, the net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment which has been 
pledged as security for credit facilities (see Notes 28 and 32) amounted to US$396,001,000 (2008: 
US$291,812,000).  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

23 Biological Assets 

 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Balance at the beginning of the year  4,794,558  3,129,960 

 Additions 62,095  64,593 

 Disposals (1,806)  (2,148) 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries 184,147  131,416 

 Transfers * 15,631  13,540 

  5,054,625  3,337,361 

 Net gain from changes in fair value 302,912  1,457,197 

 Balance at the end of the year 5,357,537  4,794,558 

     

* As at 31 December 2009 and 2008, the transfers to biological assets were mainly from land clearing. 

 

The Group’s oil palm plantations are located in Indonesia.  As at the end of the year, the Group’s total 

planted area of mature and immature plantations is approximately 334,000 (2008: 308,900) hectares 

and 93,300 (2008: 82,900) hectares respectively. 

 

During the financial year, the Group harvested approximately 5,716,000 (2008: 5,050,000) tonnes of 

fresh fruits bunches (“FFB”) from its nucleus plantations, which has a fair value less estimated point-of-

sale costs of approximately US$1,051,193,000 (2008: US$782,447,000).  The fair values of FFB were 

determined with reference to their market prices. 

 

Matured oil palm trees produce FFB, which are used to produce CPO and Palm Kernel (“PK”).  The fair 

values of biological assets are determined based on the present value of their expected net cash inflows 

of the underlying plantations.  The expected net cash inflows of oil palm plantations are determined 

using the expected market price of CPO and PK which are largely dependent on the historical price 

trend of CPO.  

 

Significant assumptions made in determining the fair values of the oil palm plantations are as follows: 

(a) No new planting or re-planting activities are assumed; 

(b) Oil palm trees have an average life of 25 years, with the first three years as immature and 

remaining years as mature; 

(c) Yield per hectare, based on average historical performance; 

(d) Discount rate of 11.4% (2008: 11.3%) per annum; and 

(e) Average market price of CPO of US$721 (2008: US$670) per tonne. 

 

The fair values of biological assets would be affected by changes in the above assumptions, particularly 

the average CPO price used.  If we assume the market CPO prices as at year end increased/decreased 

by 5% with all other variables including exchange rate being held constant, profit attributable to the 

equity holders of the Company and total equity attributable to the Company would have 

increased/decreased by approximately US$4 million (2008: US$5 million), as a result of higher/lower 

gains arising from changes in fair value of biological assets net of tax and minority interests. 

 

As at 31 December 2009, the fair value of biological assets which have been pledged as security for 

credit facilities (see Notes 28 and 32) amounted to US$1,916,020,000 (2008: US$1,701,250,000). 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

24 Deferred Income Tax 

 
  Accelerated 

tax 
depreciation 

 
Deferred 
charges 

Unutilised tax 
losses/capital 
allowances 

Valuation 
allowances/ 

others 

 
 

Total 

  US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

       

 Balance at 1 January 2009 (95,970) 55 90,848 (1,293,428) (1,298,495) 

 Credited to income statement 4,082 39 4,001      107,848 115,970 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries (777) - -      (40,265) (41,042) 

 Translation adjustment (9,642) - 2,246           (582) (7,978) 

 Balance at 31 December 2009 (102,307) 94 97,095 (1,226,427) (1,231,545) 

       

 Balance at 1 January 2008 (96,302) (106) 59,205    (820,922) (858,125) 

 (Charged)/Credited to income 

statement (4,525) 37 30,900    (439,125) (412,713) 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries (3,536) 124 -      (33,965) (37,377) 

 Translation adjustment 8,393 - 743             584 9,720 

 Balance at 31 December 2008 (95,970) 55 90,848 (1,293,428) (1,298,495) 

       

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to 

income taxes levied by the same tax authority on different entities which intend to settle on a net basis, 

or realise the assets and liabilities simultaneously in the future.  The following amounts, determined after 

appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statement of financial position: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Deferred tax liabilities (1,250,044)  (1,310,747) 

 Deferred tax assets 18,499  12,252 

  (1,231,545)  (1,298,495) 

 

Realisation of deferred tax assets is dependent on the generation of sufficient taxable income prior to 

expiration of the tax losses carry-forward.  Although realisation is not assured, the directors of the 

Company believe it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets, net of the valuation allowance, 

will be realised.  The amount of the deferred tax assets considered realisable could be reduced or 

increased if estimates of future taxable income during the carry-forward period are reduced or 

increased.  

 

As at 31 December 2009, a subsidiary, Golden Agri International Pte Ltd ("GAI") has not provided for 

deferred tax liabilities amounting to approximately US$210,000 (2008: US$3,452,000) that would be 

payable upon remittance into Singapore of its offshore interest income, which amounted to 

approximately US$1,237,000 (2008: US$19,177,000) as it is the intention of the directors of GAI to 

permanently reinvest the unremitted interest income. 

 

Deferred income tax liabilities of US$30,096,000 (2008: US$17,405,000) have not been recognised for 

taxes that would be payable on the remittance to Mauritius of unremitted retained earnings of 

US$1,003,209,000 (2008: US$580,181,000) of certain subsidiaries as the timing of the reversal of the 

temporary differences arising from such amounts can be controlled and such temporary differences are 

not expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 

 

24 Deferred Income Tax (cont’d) 

 

At the end of the reporting period, the unutilised tax losses and capital allowances available for offsetting 

against future taxable profits amounted to US$104,465,000 (2008: US$218,559,000).  The availability of 

the unutilised tax losses and capital allowances for set-off against future taxable profits is subject to the 

tax regulations of the respective countries in which the Group companies are incorporated. As at the 

end of the financial year 2009, the deferred tax benefit arising from unrecognised tax losses and 

unabsorbed capital allowances of US$20,451,000 (2008: US$52,964,000) has not been recognised in 

the financial statements. 
 
 

 

25 Deferred Charges 

 

    2009  2008 

    US$’000  US$’000 

 Cost      

 Balance at the beginning of the year   8,356  7,481 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries   35  55 

 Additions   2,264  520 

 Transfers from land rights   23  300 

 Balance at the end of the year   10,678  8,356 

       

 Less: accumulated amortisation      

 Balance at the beginning of the year   2,209  1,965 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries   -  15 

 Amortisation charged to general and 

administrative expenses 

   

151 

  

50 

 Amortisation charged to cost of sales   374  179 

 Balance at the end of the year   2,734  2,209 

       

 Net carrying amount   7,944  6,147 

 

 

 

26 Brands and Trademarks  

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Cost 6,924  6,924 

     

 Less: accumulated amortisation    

 Balance at the beginning of the year 5,003  4,682 

 Amortisation charged to general and administrative expenses 320  321 

 Balance at the end of the year 5,323  5,003 

     

 Net carrying amount 1,601  1,921 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 

 

27 Goodwill 

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Balance at the beginning and end of the year 115,898  115,898 

 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units 

(“CGU”) identified according to countries of operations which is the business segment and operating 

units within the business segment which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.   

 

The above goodwill is allocated to the Indonesia Agri-Business segment.   

 

The recoverable amount of the goodwill was determined based on value-in-use calculations using a 10-

year cash flow projection.  A terminal value was estimated based on the 10
th

 year’s future cash flow at a 

5% growth rate and a pre-tax discount rate of 11.4%.  No impairment loss is recognised for the year 

ended 31 December 2009. 

 

If the management estimates the growth rate at 4.5%, the recoverable amount of the goodwill will still 

exceed its carrying amount. 
 
 
 

28 Short-Term Loans  

 

  Note 2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Short-term bank loans:    

  United States dollar 205,380  210,244 

  Indonesian rupiah 31,915  14,799 

  Chinese renminbi 6,007  29,285 

  243,302  254,328 

 Current maturities of long-term borrowings  32 72,656  55,874 

  315,958  310,202 

 Less: Unamortised loan charges 32 (1,950)  (659) 

  314,008  309,543 

     

Short-term bank loans of the Group, broken down by secured and unsecured are as follows:  

      

   2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 Secured bank loans  233,302  244,328 

 Unsecured bank loans  10,000  10,000 

   243,302  254,328 

      

As at the end of the financial year, there is no breach of loan covenants. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 

 

28 Short-Term Loans (cont’d) 

 

The above short-term bank loans have a maturity period of less than 12 months from the end of the 

financial year and bear interest at the following rates per annum during the year:  

     

  2009  2008 

  %  % 

 United States dollar 1.0 – 8.5  3.4 – 10.0 

 Indonesian rupiah 9.5 – 14.0  12.8 – 15.0 

 Chinese renminbi 5.3 – 5.8  5.8 – 8.2 
 
 
 

29 Trade Payables 

      

  Note 2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 Trust receipts payable  101,524  76,285 

 Trade payables to:     

    Third parties  124,533  70,736 

  Associated companies  422  172 

  Related parties 40a 41,906  3,776 

   268,385  150,969 

      

The above trust receipts payable, which represent amounts due to certain banks, bear interest ranging 

from 1.6% to 2.1% (2008: 2.2% to 3.2%) per annum.  The trust receipts payable and trade payables are 

denominated in the following currencies: 

   2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 United States dollar 194,697  89,256 

 Indonesian rupiah  66,957  43,819 

 Chinese renminbi 6,569  17,803 

 Others  162  91 

   268,385  150,969 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

30 Other Payables 

     

  Note 2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Payable to third parties 49,736  16,791 

 Payable to related parties (a) 40a 1,000  2,331 

 Derivative payable (b) 9,442  3,763 

 Interest payable 1,154  2,627 

  61,332  25,512 

 Accrued expenses 19,847  16,442 

 Advances from customers  22,255  12,550 

  103,434  54,504 

 

The other payables are denominated in the following currencies: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 United States dollar 40,040  7,120 

 Indonesian rupiah 33,410  32,895 

 Chinese renminbi 26,497  9,337 

 Singapore dollar 3,319  5,152 

 Others 168  - 

  103,434  54,504 

 
(a) The unsecured payable to related parties is interest free and repayable on demand.  

 

(b) As at 31 December 2009, this represented forward contracts to purchase soybeans and palm 

oil of US$22.4 million and US$12.0 million respectively.  As at 31 December 2008, this 

represented foreign exchange forward contracts amounting to US$30.0 million. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

31 Obligations under Finance Leases 

         

   

Minimum lease payments 

 Present value of  

minimum lease payments 

  2009  2008  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000 

 Finance leases payable:        

  Within one year 22  7  20  6 

  In the second to fifth year 84  29  71  24 

  After five years 28  -  24  - 

  134  36  115  30 

 Less: Future finance charges (19)  (6)     

 Present value of lease obligation 115  30     

       

 Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months   (20)  (6) 

 Amount due for settlement after 12 months    95  24 

         

 Net book value of assets under finance leases    115  34 

        

 Interest rate per annum     2.2% - 2.9%            2.9% 

 
 
 

32 Long-Term Borrowings 

      

  Note 2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

 Long-term borrowings:     

  United States dollar  314,535  253,073 

  Indonesian rupiah  84,894  6,758 

  Singapore dollar  44,787  40,924 

 Total long-term borrowings  444,216  300,755 

 Less: Current maturities of long-term borrowings 28 (72,656)  (55,874) 

 Non-current portion  371,560  244,881 

 Less: Unamortised loan charges  (2,486)  (537) 

 Non-current portion  369,074  244,344 

      
 Movements in unamortised loan charges are as follows: 

  Note 2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 At the beginning of the year  1,196  1,389 

 Additions  5,554  622 

 Amortisation during the year  (2,314)  (815) 

 At the end of the year  4,436  1,196 

 Less: Current portion 28 (1,950)  (659) 

 Non-current portion  2,486  537 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 
32 Long-Term Borrowings (cont’d) 
 

The long-term borrowings of the Group bear interest at the following rates per annum during the year: 

      

   2009  2008 

   %  % 

 United States dollar  3.2 – 9.0   4.2 – 10.0 

 Indonesian rupiah  11.8 – 14.0  15.0 

 Singapore dollar  1.9 – 2.1   2.5 – 4.1 

 

 Long-term borrowings of the Group, broken down by secured and unsecured are as follows:  

      

   2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 Secured borrowings  443,476  257,172 

 Unsecured borrowings  740  43,583 

   444,216  300,755 

      

(a) Certain time deposits, trade receivables, inventories, biological assets and property, plant and 

equipment have been pledged to banks to obtain the above secured borrowings (as disclosed 

in Notes 14, 15, 16, 18, 22 and 23). 
 

(b) The loan agreements generally include covenants that require the maintenance of certain 

financial ratios, limit or require written notification of the amount of additional borrowings that 

may be incurred, and limit the transfer or disposal of pledged assets and acting as guarantor to 

other parties.  Any non-compliance with these covenants will result in these loans becoming 

repayable immediately upon service of a notice of default by the lenders.  In addition, certain 

loan agreements contain cross default clauses whereby non-compliance with covenants for 

other financial indebtedness would result in acceleration of the outstanding loan balances.  As 

at end of the financial year, there is no breach of loan covenants. 

 

(c) The scheduled maturities of the Group's borrowings as at 31 December 2009 and 2008 are as 

follows: 
     U.S. 

Dollar 
 Year Original loan currency Equivalent 

 As at 31 December 2009 US$’000 Rp’000 S$’000 US$’000 

 Long-term borrowings:     

 2010 61,301 92,000,000 2,200 72,656 

 2011 68,265 92,000,000 2,400 79,762 

 2012 125,429 132,000,000 2,400 141,181 

 2013 21,650 132,000,000 55,881 75,494 

 2014 13,400 173,000,000 - 31,805 

 Thereafter 24,490 177,000,000 - 43,318 

 Total 314,535 798,000,000 62,881 444,216 

 Current portion (Note 28) (61,301) (92,000,000) (2,200) (72,656) 

 Non-current portion 253,234 706,000,000 60,681 371,560 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 
32 Long-Term Borrowings (cont’d) 
 

 (c)     U.S. 
Dollar 

 Year Original loan currency Equivalent 

 As at 31 December 2008 US$’000 Rp’000 S$’000 US$’000 

 Long-term borrowings:     

 2009 55,326 6,000,000 - 55,874 

 2010 56,721 12,000,000 2,400 59,485 

 2011 27,131 12,000,000 2,400 29,895 

 2012 30,312 12,000,000 2,400 33,076 

 2013 64,383 12,000,000 51,690 101,399 

 Thereafter 19,200 20,000,000 - 21,026 

 Total 253,073 74,000,000 58,890 300,755 

 Current portion (Note 28) (55,326) (6,000,000) - (55,874) 

 Non-current portion 197,747 68,000,000 58,890 244,881 

 
 

 

33 Long-Term Payables 

      

  Note 2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 Post employment benefits liability  36 23,042  15,573 

 Rental deposits   198  - 

   23,240  15,573 

      

The long-term payables are denominated in the following currencies: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Indonesian rupiah 23,042  15,573 

 Singapore dollar 198  - 

  23,240  15,573 

 

 

 

34 Issued Capital 

  2009  2008 

  No of Shares  US$’000  No of Shares  US$’000 

 Issued and fully paid:        

 Balance at beginning of the year 9,975,903,792  249,397  4,987,951,896  249,397 

 Subdivision of share (a) -  -  4,987,951,896  -      

 Issuance of shares pursuant to 

Bonus Issue (b)  399,033,766  9,976  -  -      

 Issuance of shares pursuant to 

Rights Issue (c) 1,763,739,384  44,094  -  -      

 Balance at end of the year 12,138,676,942  303,467  9,975,903,792  249,397 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

34 Issued Capital (cont’d) 

 

 

(a) Pursuant to the approval given by the shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting held 

on 15 February 2008, each ordinary share of the Company of par value US$0.05 each was  

sub-divided into two ordinary shares of par value US$0.025 each on 22 February 2008.  

 

(b) On 2 April 2009, 399,033,766 ordinary shares of US$0.025 each have been allotted and issued 

to the shareholders of the Company pursuant to the bonus issue on the basis of one bonus 

share credited as fully paid by capitalisation of the Company’s share premium account, for 

every 25 existing shares held in the Company. The bonus shares ranked pari passu in all 

respects with the existing shares of the Company.     

 

(c) Subsequently, on 24 July 2009, 1,763,739,384 ordinary shares at an issue price of S$0.18 

(equivalent to US$0.125) per share and 705,493,728 detachable warrants were allotted and 

issued pursuant to the rights issue exercise on the basis of 17 rights shares for every 100 

existing shares held in the Company and 2 warrants for every 5 rights shares subscribed 

(“Rights Issue”).  Each detachable warrant carries the right to subscribe for one new ordinary 

share at an exercise price of S$0.54 per share, on the exercise date. 

 

The net proceeds of approximately S$311 million (equivalent to US$216 million) from the 

Rights Issue will be utilised for supporting the Group’s on-going organic growth and capital 

expenditure, pursuing value-creating mergers and acquisitions and expansion opportunities 

and general corporate purposes.  As at 31 December 2009, the Company, through its wholly-

owned subsidiary, has disbursed US$80 million for the acquisition of new subsidiaries. 

 

As at 31 December 2009, the number of outstanding warrants was 705,493,728 and may only be 

exercised on the third (3
rd

) anniversary of the date of issuance (i.e. 23 July 2012).   

 

 

 

35 Dividends 

 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Final dividend paid in respect of the previous year of US$Nil 

(2008: US$0.005) per qualifying share -  36,768 

 Interim dividend paid in respect of the current year of S$Nil 

(2008: S$0.008) per qualifying share -  55,576 

  -  92,344 

 

At the Annual Meeting on 27 April 2010, a final dividend (tax not applicable) of S$0.00495 per share, 

based on the total number of issued and paid up shares of 12,138,676,942 shares of US$0.025 each, 

amounting to S$60,086,450.86 (equivalent to approximately US$42,797,000) will be recommended.  

These financial statements do not reflect this dividend, which will be accounted for in shareholders' 

equity as an appropriation of retained earnings for the financial year ending 31 December 2010. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

36 Post Employment Benefits Liability and Share-Based Payment 

 

Certain subsidiaries have defined contribution retirement plan covering substantially all of their eligible 

permanent employees.   

 

On top of the benefits provided under the defined contribution retirement plan, the subsidiaries have 

also recorded additional provisions for employee service entitlements in order to meet the minimum 

benefits required to be paid to the qualified employees, as required under the Labor Law.  The amount 

for such additional provisions were determined based on actuarial computations valuations prepared by 

the independent actuary, PT Dayamandiri Dharmakonsilindo, using the projected unit credit method.  

The principal actuarial assumptions used by the actuaries were as follows: 

 

  2009  2008 

  %  % 

 Discount rate 10.5  12.0 

 Salary growth rate 8.0  8.0 

 Retirement age (years) 55  55 

 

The amounts of additional provision for post employment benefits recognised in the statement of 

financial position are determined as follows: 

  Note 2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Present value of unfunded employees retirement benefit 

obligations in addition to the defined contribution 

scheme 

 

28,198  16,076 

 Unrecognised net actuarial (loss)/gain (3,268)  1,295 

 Unrecognised past service cost (1,888)  (1,798) 

 Post employment benefit liability 33 23,042  15,573 

 

The movements in the above-mentioned post employment benefits liability are as follows: 

 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Balance at the beginning of the year  15,573  12,886 

 Post employment benefits expense during the year 4,546  4,777 

 Payments made during the year (116)  (111) 

 Acquisition of subsidiaries 16  - 

 Translation adjustment 3,023  (1,979) 

 Balance at the end of the year  23,042  15,573 

 

The components of the post employment benefit expenses recognised in the income statement are as 

follows: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Current service cost 2,498  2,524 

 Interest cost 1,895  1,857 

 Amortisation of actuarial losses and past service cost, net of gain 

from curtailment 153  396 

 Total post employment benefits expense 4,546  4,777 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

36 Post Employment Benefits Liability and Share-Based Payment (cont’d) 

 

Share-based Payment 

The Company introduced the GAR Group Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) which was approved by 

shareholders at the special meeting of the Company held on 24 October 2008.  The RSP is intended to 

align the interests of key management and executives of the Company and its subsidiaries with the 

interests of shareholders.  It is also expected to enhance the Company’s competitiveness in motivating 

and retaining talented key senior management and executives.  The plan contemplates the award of fully 

paid shares of the Company upon meeting prescribed performance target(s) and/or service condition(s).  

Awards granted will vest upon the satisfactory achievement of pre-determined operational and financial 

performance target(s).   

 

As at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, no awards have been granted by the Company under 

the RSP. 

 

 

 

37 Financial Instruments 

 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

 

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year, which 

include cash and cash equivalents, time deposits, short-term investments, trade and other receivables, 

trade and other payables, short-term loans, and obligations under finance leases are assumed to 

approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturities. 

 

The fair values of long-term receivables and long-term interest-bearing borrowings are calculated based 

on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows.  The discount rates used are based on 

market rates for similar instruments at the statement of financial position.  As at 31 December 2009 and 

2008, the carrying amounts of the long-term receivables and long-term interest-bearing borrowings 

approximate their fair values. 
 

Fair Value Hierarchy 

 

Effective 1 January 2009, the Group adopted the amendments to IFRS 7 which require disclosure of fair 

value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

 

(a) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

(b) Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (that is as prices) or indirectly (i.e. Derived from prices); and 

(c) Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

At 31 December 2009 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

     

Financial assets at fair value  

 through profit or loss 

 

33,962 

 

         - 

 

         - 

 

33,962 

Available-for-sale financial  

 assets 

 

         - 

 

         - 

 

25,050 

 

25,050 

Total 33,962          - 25,050 59,012 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

38 Business Combinations  
 

In December 2009, the Group through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Asia Palm Oil Investment Pte. Ltd., 

acquired 100% shareholding in Enterprise Capital Corporation (“ECC”), an investment holding company 

incorporated in Malaysia, with several subsidiaries that are principally engaged in the ownership and 

cultivation of oil palm plantations (the “ECC Group”) in Indonesia.  

 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of ECC Group acquired amounted to 

US$117,826,000 after taking into account the fair value adjustments of US$120,793,000. 

 

The acquired ECC Group contributed revenue of US$0.1 million and loss of US$0.2 million to the 

Group’s profit before income tax for the period between the date of acquisition and the end of the 

reporting period.  If the acquisition has been completed on 1 January 2009, total Group’s revenue and 

profit before income tax for the year would have been US$2,293,921,000 and US$591,736,000 

respectively. 

 

The identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in the above transaction are as follows: 

 

  Previous    Fair value 

  carrying amount  Fair value  recognised  

 Net assets acquired: in ECC Group  adjustments  on acquisition 

  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000 

       

 Property, plant and equipment 7,481  -  7,481 

 Biological assets 23,089  161,058  184,147 

 Other non-current assets 3,613  -  3,613 

 Cash and cash equivalents 541  -  541 

 Trade and other receivables 4,201  -  4,201 

 Inventories 2,818  -  2,818 

 Borrowings (37,728)  -  (37,728) 

 Trade and other payables (6,068)  -  (6,068) 

 Taxes payable  (22)  -  (22) 

 Deferred tax liability (777)  (40,265)  (41,042) 

 Other non-current liabilities (115)  -  (115) 

  (2,967)  120,793  117,826 

 Negative goodwill     (7,825) 

 Total purchase consideration     110,001 

       

The consideration is to be fully settled in cash in 2 tranches.  The first tranche of US$80 million had 

been paid upon signing of the agreement during the financial year 2009, and the second tranche of 

US$30 million shall be made on or before 15 January 2010.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

39 Operating Segment Information 

 

The Group’s reportable segments are the strategic business units that offer different products and 

services and operate in two different principal geographical areas, namely Indonesia and China.  They 

are managed separately because each business unit requires different marketing strategies.  Set out 

below are the Group’s reportable segments: 

 

Indonesia Agri-business - ownership and cultivation of oil palm plantation, ownership and operation 

of mills and refineries and producer of consumer cooking oil and margarine 

in Indonesia; and 

 

China Agri-business - refinery, port, storage and oilseed crushing operations in China. 

 

  Indonesia Agri- China Agri-  

  Business Business Total 

 2009 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

     

 Total revenue 2,163,204 613,615 2,776,819 

 Inter-segment sales (483,120) - (483,120) 

 Revenue from external customers 1,680,084 613,615 2,293,699 

     

 EBITDA 387,633 13,455 401,088 

     

 Other information    

 Capital expenditure 251,963 4,331 256,294 

 Depreciation and amortisation (61,141) (7,143) (68,284) 

 Net gain from changes in fair value of 

biological assets 

 

302,912 

 

- 

 

302,912 

 Exceptional items, net (1,374) - (1,374) 

 Interest on borrowings (44,388) (1,962) (46,350) 

 Share of results of associated 

companies, net 6,782 

 

- 6,782 

     

 Assets    

 Segment assets 7,670,645 * 383,372 8,054,017 

     

 Liabilities    

 Segment liabilities (2,203,798) (314,163) (2,517,961) 

     

* Segment assets in Indonesia Agri-Business include investment in associated companies of 

US$6,420,000. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

39 Operating Segment Information (cont'd) 

 

  Indonesia Agri- China Agri-  

  Business Business Total 

 2008 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

     

 Total revenue 2,719,945 658,337 3,378,282 

 Inter-segment sales (392,334) - (392,334) 

 Revenue from external customers 2,327,611 658,337 2,985,948 

     

 EBITDA 587,715 9,515 597,230 

     

 Other information    

 Capital expenditure 239,792 4,274 244,066 

 Depreciation and amortisation (51,241) (6,959) (58,200) 

 Net gain from changes in fair value of 

biological assets 

 

1,457,197 

 

- 

 

1,457,197 

 Exceptional items, net 20,133 - 20,133 

 Interest on borrowings (37,477) (2,465) (39,942) 

 Share of results of associated 

companies, net 5,382 - 5,382 

     

 Assets    

 Segment assets 6,719,470 * 269,810 6,989,280 

     

 Liabilities    

 Segment liabilities (2,077,707) (204,743) (2,282,450) 

     
 * Segment assets in Indonesia Agri-Business include investment in associated companies of 
US$4,406,000. 

 

A reconciliation of total EBITDA to total profit before income tax is as follows:  

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 EBITDA for reportable segments 401,088  597,230 

 Net gain from changes in fair value of biological assets 302,912  1,457,197 

 Depreciation and amortisation (68,284)  (58,200) 

 Foreign exchange loss (1,628)  (34,740) 

 Interest on borrowings (46,350)  (39,942) 

 Exceptional items, net (1,374)  20,133 

 Share of results of associated companies, net 6,782  5,382 

 Profit before income tax 593,146  1,947,060 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

39 Operating Segment Information (cont'd) 

 

A reconciliation of total assets for reportable segments to total assets is as follows: 

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Total assets for reportable segments 8,054,017  6,989,280 

 Elimination of inter-segment receivables (153,537)  (163,773) 

 Total assets 7,900,480  6,825,507 

 

 A reconciliation of total liabilities for reportable segments to total liabilities is as follows: 

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Total liabilities for reportable segments 2,517,961  2,282,450 

 Elimination of inter-segment payables (151,236)  (163,773) 

 Total liabilities 2,366,725  2,118,677 

 

Revenue based on geographical location of customers is as follows: 

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Indonesia 511,896  785,974 

 China 637,766  690,537 

 Rest of Asia 899,330  1,101,346 

 Europe 66,150  114,150 

 India 159,582  236,737 

 Others 18,975  57,204 

 Consolidated total 2,293,699  2,985,948 

 
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-current assets, analysed by the geographical 
areas in which the assets are located: 

 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Indonesia 6,369,540  5,692,212 

 China 123,944  126,895 

 Singapore  92,104  70,421 

 Total non-current assets 6,585,588  5,889,528 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

40 Related Party Transactions  

 

(a) Related parties are entities (except for the holding company and associated company) with 

common direct or indirect shareholders and/or directors.  Parties are considered to be related 

(directly or indirectly) if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 

influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. 

 

(b) In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial 

statements, significant transactions with related parties, on terms agreed between parties, were 

as follows: 

   2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

  i) Sale of services    

  Management fee income from associated companies 615  21 

  Port and storage handling fees from a minority    

     shareholder of a subsidiary 1,072  879 

      

  ii) Purchase of goods and services    

  Insurance premium to a related party 4,218  4,151 

  Management fee expense to a related party -  4,943 

  Purchase of palm oil products from associated companies 876  898 

  Purchase of non-palm oil products from related parties 92,280  43,079 

  Rental and service charge expense to a related party 4,527  4,224 

  Toll manufacturing expense to an associated company 493  817 

  Transport and port expense to related parties 624  781 

  Advisory fee to a related party 207  141 

  Purchase of land from a related party -  16,269 

  Port and storage charges to a minority shareholder of a     

     subsidiary 1,866  1,878 

 

(c) The remuneration of key management personnel who are also directors are as follows: 

   

  2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

  Directors’ remuneration:    

  Directors of the holding company 2,570  3,085 

  Directors of subsidiaries 6,413  3,378 

      

Included in the above remuneration are post employment benefits of US$99,000 (2008: 

US$98,000) for the financial year ended 31 December 2009. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

41 Significant Commitments 

 

Operating lease commitments 

 

At the end of the reporting period, the commitment in respect of non-cancellable operating leases for the 

rental of office premises and properties with a term of more than one year are as follows. The leases 

have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. 

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Within one year 3,985  3,749 

 Between one year to five years 7,359  10,724 

     

 Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases 4,651  4,230 

 

Capital expenditure commitment 
 

At the end of the reporting period, the estimated significant expenditure committed but not provided for 

in the financial statements are as follows: 

     

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Capital expenditure 5,926  26,157 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

42 Group Companies 

 

The details of the subsidiaries are as follows: 

   Place of business/ Effective interest 

 Name of Company Principal activities incorporation of the Company 

    2009 2008 

    % % 

 Subsidiaries held by  the Company    

 Asia Integrated Agri Resources 

Limited  

Investment holding Bermuda 100.00  100.00 

      

 Asia Palm Oil Investment Pte. 

Ltd.  

Investment holding Singapore 100.00  100.00  

      

 Blue Sky Golden Energy Ltd 

(b1) 

Investment holding Mauritius 100.00  100.00  

      

 Easton Capital Resources Pte. 

Ltd. (b4) 

Investment holding Singapore 100.00 
c
 - 

      

 Golden Agri Capital Pte. Ltd. 

(b4) 

Investment holding Singapore 100.00 
c
 - 

      

 Golden Agri International 

Finance Ltd (b1) 

Treasury management Mauritius 100.00 100.00 

      

 Golden Agri International 

Finance (2) Ltd (b2) 

Treasury management British Virgin Islands 100.00 100.00 

      

 Golden Agri International 

(Mauritius) Ltd (b1) 

Provision of management and 

consultancy services 

Mauritius 100.00
 
 100.00

 
 

      

 Golden Agri International Pte 

Ltd  

Trading in crude palm oil and 

related products 

Singapore 100.00 100.00 

      

 Golden Agri International 

Trading Ltd (b1) 

Trading in crude palm oil and 

related products 

Malaysia 100.00 100.00 

      

 Golden Agri Investment (S) 

Pte. Ltd.   

Investment holding Singapore 100.00
 
 100.00 

      

 Golden Agri (Labuan) Ltd (b1) Trading in crude palm oil and 

related products 

Malaysia 100.00
 
 100.00

 
 

      

 Madascar Investment Ltd (b1)  Investment holding Mauritius 100.00  100.00  

      

 PT Purimas Sasmita 

(“Purimas”) (b1) 

Investment holding, business and 

management consultancy, and 

trading 

Indonesia 100.00
 a
 100.00

 a
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
  

42 Group Companies (cont'd) 

   Place of business/ Effective interest 

 Name of Company Principal activities incorporation of the Company 

    2009 2008 

    % % 

 Subsidiaries held through subsidiaries    

 AFP Agri-Resources Trading 

(M) Sdn. Bhd. (b1) 

Investment holding Malaysia 100.00 100.00 

      
 AFP International Trading 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd (b6)  

Dormant People's Republic of 

China 

100.00 100.00  

      

 PT Aditunggal Mahajaya (Note 

38) (b7) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 - 

      

 PT Agrokarya Primalestari (b5) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Agrolestari Mandiri (b5) 

 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

 

     

 PT Agrolestari Sentosa (b5) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Agropalma Sejahtera (b4) Investment holding Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      
 PT Aimer Sawitmas (b4) Investment holding Indonesia 100.00  100.00 

      
 PT Alam Sumber Rahmat (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 95.68 95.68 

      

 PT Bangun Nusa Mandiri  

(Note 38) (b8) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 - 

      

 PT Berau Sarana Jaya  (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      

 PT Bhakti Manunggal Karya 

(b4)  

Training services Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Binasawit Abadipratama 

(b5)  

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00  100.00  

      

 Blue Sky Golden FPS Ltd (b2) Investment holding British Virgin Islands 100.00  100.00  

      

 Blue Sky Golden Fulcrum Ltd 

(b2) 

Investment holding British Virgin Islands 100.00  100.00  

      

 PT Buana Adhitama (b5) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

42 Group Companies (cont'd) 

   Place of business/ Effective interest 

 Name of Company Principal activities incorporation of the Company 

    2009 2008 

    % % 

 Subsidiaries held through subsidiaries (cont’d)    
 PT Buana Artha Sejahtera 

(b5)  

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00  100.00  

      

 PT Buana Indah Mandiri (b5) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, transportation 

and general trading 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Buana Wiralestari Mas (b1) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Bumi Persada Sejahtera 

(b5) 

Investment holding, ownership 

and cultivation of oil palm 

plantation, transportation and 

general trading 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Bumi Sawit Permai (b5) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Bumipalma Lestaripersada 

(b1) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Bumipermai Lestari (b5) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Cahayanusa Gemilang (b5)  Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

 

      

 PT Citra Bhakti Mandiri (b5) Investment holding Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Djuandasawit Lestari (b5) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      
 Dragon Capital Investments 

Ltd (b1)  

Investment holding Mauritius 100.00  100.00  

      

 PT Dumai Golden Industry 

Complex (b5) 

Refinery operation Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 Eco Investment Ltd (b2) Investment holding Malaysia  100.00  100.00 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

42 Group Companies (cont'd) 

   Place of business/ Effective interest 

 Name of Company Principal activities incorporation of the Company 

    2009 2008 

    % % 

 Subsidiaries held through subsidiaries (cont’d)    

 Enterprise Capital Corporation 

(Note 38) (b2) 

Investment holding Malaysia 100.00 - 

      

 PT Forestalestari Dwikarya 

(b5) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 GAR Finance B.V. (b2) Treasury management The Netherlands  100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Gemamina Kencana (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      
 PT Genta Mas Perkasa (Note 

38) (b7) 

Investment holding Indonesia 100.00 - 

      

 PT Global Media Telekomindo 

(b4) 

Telecommunication and 

multimedia services 

Indonesia 100.00  100.00  

      

 Goederhand Finance B.V. (b2) Treasury management The Netherlands  100.00 100.00 

      

 Golden Agri International 

(Cayman) Ltd (b2) 

Trading in crude palm oil and 

related products 

Cayman Islands 100.00 100.00 

      

 Golden Agri International (L) 

Ltd (b1) 

Trading in crude palm oil and 

related products 

Malaysia 100.00 100.00 

      

 Golden Agri International 

Trading (Cayman) Ltd (b2) 

Trading in crude palm oil and 

related products 

Cayman Islands 100.00 100.00 

      

 Golden Agri International 

Trading (Mauritius) Ltd (b1) 

Investment holding Mauritius 100.00 100.00 

     

 Golden Agri Plaza Pte. Ltd. 

(formerly known as “Golden 

Techno Suites Pte. Ltd.”)  

Commercial and industrial real 

estate management 

Singapore 100.00  100.00  

      

 Golden Agri SEA (Labuan) Ltd 

(b4) 

Trading in crude palm oil and its 

related products 

Malaysia 100.00  100.00 

      

 Golden Agri Trading (L) Ltd 

(b1) 

Trading in edible oils and its 

related products 

Malaysia 100.00  100.00 

      

 Golden Bio Energy (S) Pte. 

Ltd.  

Investment holding Singapore 100.00  100.00  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

42 Group Companies (cont’d) 

   Place of business/ Effective interest 

 Name of Company Principal activities incorporation of the Company 

    2009 2008 

    % % 

 Subsidiaries held through subsidiaries (cont’d)    

 Golden Natural Resources 

(HK) Investment Co. Limited 

(formerly known as “Golden 

Bluesky Energy Limited”)  (b9) 

Dormant Hong Kong 100.00  100.00  

      

 Golden Veroleum Limited (b4) Investment holding Hong Kong 100.00 
c
 - 

      

 PT Griyagraha Sarimakmur 

(b4) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Ivo Mas Tunggal (b1) Investment holding, ownership 

and cultivation of oil palm 

plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill and refinery 

Indonesia 100.00  100.00  

      

 PT Ivomas Oil & Fat (b5) 

 

Investment holding, ownership 

and cultivation of oil palm 

plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

 

      

 PT Ivomas Tunggal Lestari 

(b1) 

Provision of maintenance 

services for palm oil processing 

units 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Kartika Prima Cipta  

(Note 38) (b7) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 - 

      

 PT Kencana Graha Permai 

(b5)   

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

 

      

 PT Kresna Duta Agroindo (b1) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      
 PT Kurnia Cakra Sakti (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Langgeng Subur (b5) Ownership and cultivation of 

ornamental plants 

Indonesia 95.21  95.21  

      

 Madascar Capital Pte. Ltd.  Investment holding Singapore  100.00  100.00  

      
 PT Mantap Andalan Unggul 

(b4) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 

72

G
o

ld
en

 A
g

r
i-

R
es

o
u

r
ce

s 
Lt

d
An

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

r
t 

20
09



 

  73  

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

42 Group Companies (cont’d) 

   Place of business/ Effective interest 

 Name of Company Principal activities incorporation of the Company 

    2009 2008 

    % % 

 Subsidiaries held through subsidiaries (cont’d)    

 PT Maskapai Perkebunan 

Leidong West Indonesia (b1) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      

 PT Meganusa Intisawit (b1) 

 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00  100.00 

      
 PT Meganusa Karya Langgeng 

(Note 38) (b7) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 - 

      

 PT Mitra Ekasukses Abadi (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Mitrakarya Agroindo (b5) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      
 PT Nabati Energi Mas (b5) Production of palm oil based bio-

diesel and other renewable 

resources based bio-fuel 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      
 Ningbo Shining Gold Cereal Oil 

Port Co., Ltd (b1) 

Port and storage facilities People's Republic of 

China 

68.91  68.91  

      
 Ningbo Shining Gold Cereal Oil 

Storage Co., Ltd (b1) 

Provide services in port loading, 

storage, packaging and 

transportation 

People's Republic of 

China 

68.91  68.91  

      

 PT Nusantara Candra (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Paramitra Agung 

Cemerlang (b7) 

Provision of shipping and 

chartering services 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      
 PT Paramitra Internusa 

Pratama (Note 38) (b7) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 - 

      
 PT Pelangi Sungai Siak (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 80.92 80.92 

      
 PT Persada Graha Mandiri 

(Note 38) (b7) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 - 

      
 PT Perusahaan Perkebunan 

Panigoran (b5) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      

 PT Pratama Ronaperintis (b4) Investment holding Indonesia 66.64 66.64 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

42 Group Companies (cont’d) 

   Place of business/ Effective interest 

 Name of Company Principal activities incorporation of the Company 

    2009 2008 

    % % 

 Subsidiaries held through subsidiaries (cont’d)    
 Premier Foods International 

Ltd  (b1)  

Investment holding Mauritius 100.00  100.00  

      
 PT Propertindo Prima (b5) Transportation service Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      

 PT Putra Manunggal Abadi 

(b5) 

Investment holding Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Rama Flora Sejahtera (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      
 PT Ramajaya Pramukti (b1) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      
 Rapid Growth Investments Ltd  

(b1)  

Investment holding Mauritius 100.00  100.00  

      

 PT Rawa Bangunyaman (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Sangatta Andalan Utama 

(b4) 

Ownership and cultivation of 

oil palm plantation 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      

 PT Satrindo Jaya Agropalma 

(b4) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Satya Kisma Usaha (b5) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      

 PT Sawit Mas Sejahtera (b5) Investment holding, ownership 

and cultivation of oil palm 

plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Sawitakarya Manunggul 

(b5)  

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      
 Shining Gold Foodstuffs 

(Ningbo) Co., Ltd (b1)  

Refinery of palm and vegetable 

oil 

People's Republic of 

China 

100.00 100.00  

      
 Shining Gold Oilseed Crushing 

(Ningbo) Co., Ltd (b1)  

Manufacturing of crude vegetable 

oil 

People's Republic of 

China 

100.00 100.00  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

42 Group Companies (cont’d) 

   Place of business/ Effective interest 

 Name of Company Principal activities incorporation of the Company 

    2009 2008 

    % % 

 Subsidiaries held through subsidiaries (cont’d)    

 Silverand Holdings Ltd (b1)  Investment holding Mauritius 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Sinar Kencana Inti Perkasa 

(b8) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Sinar Mas Agro Resources 

and Technology Tbk (b1)  

Investment holding, ownership 

and cultivation of oil palm 

plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill, refinery and 

producer of consumer cooking 

oil, shortening and margarine 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      

 Sinar Mas Natural Resources 

(China) Investment Co., Ltd 

(b4) 

Investment holding People's Republic of 

China 

100.00 
c
 - 

      

 Sinarmas Natural Resources 

Foodstuff Technology 

(Nanjing) Co., Ltd (b4) 

Refinery of palm and vegetable 

oil 

People's Republic of 

China 

100.00 
c
 - 

      

 Sinarmas Natural Resources 

Foodstuff Technology (Tianjin) 

Co., Ltd (b4) 

Refinery of palm and vegetable 

oil 

People's Republic of 

China 

100.00 
c
 - 

      

 PT Sinar Mas Super Air (b5) Aerial manuring Indonesia 98.32 98.32 

      

 Sinarkonex Korea Co., Ltd  

(b4) 

Dormant Korea 70.00 70.00 

      

 PT Soci Mas (b1) Oleochemical industries Indonesia 95.26 95.26 

      

 Sterling International 

Investment Ltd (b4) 

Investment holding Malaysia 100.00 100.00 

      
 Straits Investments Ltd (b1)  Investment holding Mauritius 84.31  84.31  

     

 PT Sumber Indahperkasa (b5) Ownership and cultivation of 

oil palm plantation, ownership 

and operation of mill 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      
 PT Swakarya Adhi Usaha (b5) Provision of maintenance 

services for palm oil 

processing units 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

42 Group Companies (cont’d) 

   Place of business/ Effective interest 

 Name of Company Principal activities incorporation of the Company 

    2009 2008 

   % % 

 Subsidiaries held through subsidiaries (cont’d)    

 PT Tapian Nadenggan (b1) Investment holding, ownership 

and cultivation of oil palm 

plantation, ownership and 

operation of mill 

Indonesia 95.21 95.21 

      
 PT Tarunacipta Kencana (b7) Ownership and operation of 

marine cargo 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 PT Tradisi Mas Sejahtera (b4) Investment holding Indonesia 62.50 62.50 

      

 PT Tradisi Sawit Mandiri 

Utama (b4) 

Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 85.00 85.00 

      

 PT Trans Indojaya Mas (b5)  Transportation services Indonesia 98.34 98.34 

      

 PT Trimeru (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      

 

 

PT Universal Transindo Mas 

(b5) 

Transportation services Indonesia 98.34 98.34 

      

 PT Usaha Malindo Jaya (b4) Ownership and cultivation of oil 

palm plantation 

Indonesia 100.00 100.00 

      
 Zhuhai Shining Gold Oil and 

Fats Industry Co., Ltd (b1)  

Refinery of palm and vegetable 

oil 

People's Republic of 

China 

85.00 85.00  

     
 The Group's associated companies are:    

 PT Hortimart Agrogemilang 

(b4) 

Production and sale of seeds Indonesia 37.23 37.23 

      

 PT Sinar Meadow International 

Indonesia (b1) 

Production of special vegetable 

oil and fat 

Indonesia 50.00 50.00 

      

 PT Dami Mas Sejahtera (b8) Production and sale of oil palm 

seeds 

Indonesia 50.00 50.00 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

42 Group Companies (cont’d) 

 

Notes: 

(a) 86.04% of the share capital of Purimas is directly held by the Company and the remaining 

13.96% of the share capital is held by Silverand Holdings Ltd. 

 

(b) The above group companies are audited by Moore Stephens LLP, Singapore except for group 

companies that are indicated below: 

 
(1) Audited by member firms of Moore Stephens International Limited of which Moore 

Stephens LLP, Singapore is a member. 
 
(2) Statutory audit not required by law in its country of incorporation. 
 
(3) Audited by other firm of accountants, Kanaka Puradiredja, Robert Yogi, Suhartono.  
 
(4) Statutory audit is not required as the subsidiary is newly incorporated/inactive.  
 
(5) Audited by other firm of accountants, Drs. RB Tanubrata & Rekan (BDO). 

 

 (6) Audited by other firm of accountants, BDO International, Shanghai Zhonghua. 
 

(7) Audited by other firm of accountants, Eddy Prakarsa Permana & Siddharta. 
 
(8) Audited by other firm of accountants, Purwantono, Sarwoko & Sandjaja (Ernst & Young). 

 
(9) Audited by other firm of accountants, Lam, Lee & So C.P.A. Company Limited. 

 

(c) During the financial year 2009, the following new companies have been incorporated: 

 

Subsidiaries Initial Issued and Paid-up Capital 

  

Easton Capital Resources Pte. Ltd. 1 ordinary share of US$1 

Golden Agri Capital Pte. Ltd. 1 ordinary share of US$1 

Golden Veroleum Limited 1 ordinary share of HK$1 

  

 Registered capital 

Sinar Mas Natural Resources (China) Investment Co., Ltd US$30,000,000 

Sinarmas Natural Resources Foodstuff Technology 

(Nanjing) Co., Ltd 

 

US$12,000,000 

Sinarmas Natural Resources Foodstuff Technology 

(Tianjin) Co., Ltd 

 

US$33,000,000 
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GOLDEN AGRI-RESOURCES LTD 

(Incorporated in Mauritius) 

 

 

COMMENTARY OF THE DIRECTORS 

 

The directors present their report, together with the audited financial statements of Golden Agri-Resources Ltd 

(the "Company") for the financial year ended 31 December 2009. 

 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 

 

The Company was incorporated on 15 October 1996 and its principal activity is that of an investment holding 

company.   

 

 

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS 

 

The Company's net gain for the year ended 31 December 2009 was US$827,177,000 (2008: US$68,907,000). 

 

At the Annual Meeting on 27 April 2010, a final dividend (tax not applicable) of S$0.00495 per share, based on 

the total number of issued and paid-up shares of 12,138,676,942 shares of US$0.025 each, amounting to 

S$60,086,450.86 (equivalent to approximately US$42,797,000) will be recommended by the directors. 

 

 

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which present fairly 

the financial position, financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company.  In preparing 

those financial statements, the directors are required to: 

 

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• State whether International Financial Reporting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

• Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Company will continue in business. 

 

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements. 

 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 

any time the financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply 

with the Mauritian Companies Act 2001.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 

and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

 

The independent auditors, Moore Stephens, have expressed their willingness to continue in office and are 

automatically reappointed under the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 at the next Annual Meeting.  
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GOLDEN AGRI-RESOURCES LTD 

(Incorporated in Mauritius) 

 

 

CERTIFICATE FROM THE SECRETARY 

 

 

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief that we have filed with the Registrar of Companies all 

such returns as are required of Golden Agri-Resources Ltd under the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2009. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CORPORATE SECRETARY 

c/o Multiconsult Limited 

Rogers House, 

5, President John Kennedy Street, 

Port Louis, 

MAURITIUS 

 

Date: 18 March 2010 

 
 

02

G
o

ld
en

 A
g

r
i-

R
es

o
u

r
ce

s 
Lt

d
An

n
u

al
 R

ep
o

r
t 

20
09



 

3 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF 

GOLDEN AGRI-RESOURCES LTD 

(Incorporated in Mauritius) 

 

 

 

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company's members, as a body, in 

accordance with Section 205 of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 and for no other purpose.  We do not in, 

giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this 

report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

 

We have audited the financial statements of Golden Agri-Resources Ltd, set out on pages 5 to 24, which 

comprise the statement of financial position at 31 December 2009 and the statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

 

 

Directors' Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the 

Mauritian Companies Act 2001.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal 

control relevant to the preparation and fair representation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 

accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

 

 

Auditors' Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgement, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 

assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.  An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion. 
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4 

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF 

GOLDEN AGRI-RESOURCES LTD 

(Incorporated in Mauritius) 

 

 

 

Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 5 to 24 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Company at 31 December 2009 and of its financial performance, its changes in equity and its cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the Mauritian 

Companies Act 2001. 

 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

We have no relationship with or interests in the Company other than in our capacities as auditors and tax 

advisers. 

 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required. 

 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our 

examination of those records. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Moore Stephens 

  Chartered Certified Accountants 

Port Louis, Mauritius  

Date: 18 March 2010 
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GOLDEN AGRI-RESOURCES LTD  

(Incorporated in Mauritius) 

 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

 Note 2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

Management fee income from subsidiaries  -  4,200 

Administrative expenses  (1,825)  (6,637) 

Dividend income   -  43,113 

Financial income 6 10,654  28,809 

Financial expenses  7 (363)  (1,455) 

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net  (1,639)  2,240 

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 11 820,509  - 

     

Profit before income tax 8 827,336  70,270 

Income tax 9 (159)  (1,363) 

     

Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive  

income for the year 

  

827,177 

  

68,907 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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GOLDEN AGRI-RESOURCES LTD  

(Incorporated in Mauritius) 

 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

 Note 2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

Current assets     

  Cash and cash equivalents  10 1,140  1,249 

  Non-trade receivable from a related party 13 386  377 

  Prepaid expenses   45  24 

  Other receivables  -  8 

  1,571  1,658 

     

Non-current assets     

  Interest in subsidiaries 11 2,755,328  1,727,746 

     

Total Assets  2,756,899  1,729,404 

     

Current liabilities     

  Short-term bank loan, unsecured 12 10,000  10,000 

  Accrued operating expenses  401  300 

  Other payables  28  109 

  Non-trade payable to a related party 13 128  2,467 

  Loans and advances from subsidiaries, unsecured 14 33,113  46,268 

  Income tax payable  -  361 

  43,670  59,505 

     

Net Assets  2,713,229  1,669,899 

     

Equity     

  Issued capital 15 303,467  249,397 

  Share premium  1,569,185  1,407,102 

  Retained earnings   840,577  13,400 

  2,713,229  1,669,899 

     

 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FRANKY OESMAN WIDJAJA     SIMON LIM 

Director        Director 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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GOLDEN AGRI-RESOURCES LTD  

(Incorporated in Mauritius) 

 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

 Issued  Share  Retained   

 Capital  Premium  Earnings  Total 

 US$’000  US$’000  US$’000  US$’000 

        

Balance as at 1 January 2009 249,397  1,407,102  13,400  1,669,899 

        

Issuance of shares pursuant to  

Bonus Issue 

 

9,976 

  

(9,976) 

  

- 

  

- 

        

Issuance of shares pursuant to  

Rights Issue 

 

44,094 

  

176,374 

  

- 

  

220,468 

        

Share issuance expenses -  (4,315)  -  (4,315) 

        

Total comprehensive income for  

the year 

 

- 

  

- 

  

827,177 

  

827,177 

        

Balance as at 31 December 2009 303,467  1,569,185  840,577  2,713,229 

        

        

Balance as at 1 January 2008 249,397  1,406,970  36,837  1,693,204 

        

Adjustment to share issuance expenses -  132  -  132 

        

Dividends (Note 17) -  -  (92,344)  (92,344) 

        

Total comprehensive income for  

the year 

 

- 

  

- 

  

68,907 

  

68,907 

        

Balance as at 31 December 2008 249,397  1,407,102  13,400  1,669,899 

        

        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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GOLDEN AGRI-RESOURCES LTD  

(Incorporated in Mauritius) 

 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 
 Note 2009  2008 

  

 

US$’000  US$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Profit before income tax  827,336  70,270 

     

Adjustments for:     

  Interest expense  363  1,455 

  Interest income  (10,654)  (28,809) 

  Gain on disposal of a subsidiary  (820,509)  - 

  Dividend income  -  (43,113) 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes  (3,464)  (197) 

     

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

  Non-trade payable to a related party  (2,339)  1,771 

  Accrued operating expenses  101  (92) 

  Non-trade receivable from a related party  (9)  (51) 

  Prepaid expenses  (21)  (1) 

  Other payables  -  (64) 

Cash (used in)/generated from operations  (5,732)  1,366 

     

Interest paid  (200)  (407) 

Interest received  17  79 

Income tax paid  (520)  (3,326) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (6,435)  (2,288) 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

(Disbursements of)/Proceeds from loans and advances to  

subsidiaries, net 

  

(401,648) 

  

183,843 

Redemption of /(Payments for) bonds issued by subsidiaries, net  205,220  (134,328) 

Dividend income received from subsidiaries  -  43,113 

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities  (196,428)  92,628 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

(Repayments of)/Proceeds from loans and advances from  

subsidiaries, net 

 

(13,399)  11,732 

Payment of short-term bank loan, unsecured  -  (10,000) 

Payment of dividends  -  (92,344) 

Net proceeds from Rights Issue  216,153  - 

Decrease/(Increase) in time deposits pledged  35  (36) 

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities  202,789  (90,648) 

     

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (74)  (308) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   264  572 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 10 190  264 

     

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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GOLDEN AGRI-RESOURCES LTD  

(Incorporated in Mauritius) 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

These notes are an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 

statements. 

 

 

1 General 

 

Golden Agri-Resources Ltd (“GAR” or the "Company") was incorporated in Mauritius on 15 October 

1996 under Section 19 of the Companies Act 1984 as a private company limited by shares and was 

granted an offshore certificate under Section 16(4) of the Mauritius Offshore Business Activities 

("MOBA") Act 1992 on 16 October 1996.  On 9 July 1999, the Company was admitted to the Official List 

of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. 

 

The Companies Act 1984 and the MOBA Act 1992 had been repealed and replaced by the Companies 

Act 2001 and the Financial Services ("FS") Act 2007, respectively.  With effect from 1 December 2001, 

"offshore companies" are now referred to as "Global Business Licence Category 1 ("GBL1") 

companies". 

 

The registered office of the Company is c/o Multiconsult Limited, Rogers House, 5, President John 

Kennedy Street, Port Louis, Mauritius.  The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment 

holding company.  

 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 March 2010. 

 

 

 

2 Adoption of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") 

 

During the current financial year, the Company has adopted all the new and revised IFRSs and 

Interpretations to IFRS issued that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods 

beginning on 1 January 2009.  The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs and Interpretations to 

IFRS has had no material financial impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

 

As at the date of these financial statements, the following revisions and amendments to the IFRSs and 

new Interpretations to IFRS that are relevant to the Company’s operation were in issue but not yet 

effective: 

 

• IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual 

Improvements to IFRSs 

• IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows – Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to 

IFRSs 

• IAS 17, Leases – Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 

• IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures – Revised definition of related parties 

• IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Consequential amendments arising 

from amendments to IFRS 3  

• IAS 28, Investments in Associates – Consequential amendments arising from amendments to  

IFRS 3 

• IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation – Amendments relating to classification of rights issues  

• IAS 36, Impairment of Assets – Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to 

IFRSs 

• IAS 38, Intangible Assets – Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 
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10 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

2 Adoption of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") (cont’d) 

 

• IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Amendments for embedded 

derivatives when reclassifying financial instruments; Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual 

Improvements to IFRSs and Amendments for eligible hedged items 

• IFRS 2, Share-based Payment – Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to 

IFRSs and Amendments relating to group cash-settled share-based payment transactions 

• IFRS 3, Business Combinations – Comprehensive revision on applying the acquisition method 

• IFRS 8, Operating Segments – Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to 

IFRSs 

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments – Classification and Measurement  

• IFRIC 14, IAS 19, The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their 

Interaction 

• IFRIC 19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 

 
The directors anticipate that the adoption of these IFRSs and Interpretations to IFRS in future periods 
will not have a material financial impact on the financial statements. 

 

 

 

3 Summary of Accounting Policies 

 

(a) Basis of Financial Statements Preparation 

 

The financial statements, which are expressed in United States dollar, are prepared in accordance with 

the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below and are drawn up in 

accordance with the provisions of IFRS. 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent 

assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period and the reported amounts of revenues and 

expenses during the financial year.  Although these estimates are based on management's best 

knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may actually differ from these estimates.  Critical 

accounting estimates and assumptions used that are significant to the financial statements and areas 

involving a higher degree of judgement and complexity are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial 

statements. 

 

 

(b) Functional and Presentation Currency 

 

The functional and presentation currency of the Company is the United States dollar as the directors are 

of the opinion that the United States dollar provides information about the Company which is useful and 

reflects the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. 

 

 

(c) Foreign Currencies 

 

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into 

United States dollar at the rates of exchange prevailing at the time the transactions are entered into.  At 

the end of the reporting period, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated into United States dollar at exchange rates prevailing at such date.  Exchange differences 

arising from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from translation of foreign currency 

denominated monetary assets and liabilities are taken to the profit or loss. 
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11 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(c) Foreign Currencies (cont’d) 

 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date of initial transactions.  Non-monetary items denominated in foreign 

currencies that are measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rate at the date that the fair 

value was determined.  Currency translation differences on non-monetary items are recognised as part 

of the fair value gain or loss in profit or loss, except for differences arising from translation of available-

for-sale financial assets, which are recognised in other comprehensive income.  

 

 

(d) Revenue Recognition 

 

Management income is recognised in the period in which the services are rendered.  

 

Interest income from time deposits and other financial assets are recognised on a time-proportion basis, 

by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.   

 

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Company’s right to receive payment has 

been established. 

 

 

(e) Income Tax 

 

Current income tax for current and prior years is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or 

recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  

 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 

be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.  

 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the 

Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 

Deferred income tax is charged or credited to the statement of comprehensive income, except when it 

relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred income tax is also dealt 

with in equity.  Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes 

levied by the same tax authority.  Tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 

period are used to determine deferred tax. 

 

 

(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and time deposits with maturities of three months or 

less at the time of placement. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 

equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of time deposits pledged as 

security. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(g) Investment in Subsidiaries  

 

Investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  Where an indication of 

impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investment is assessed and written down to its 

recoverable amount. 

 

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company.  Control is normally evidenced when the Company 

owns directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting rights of the entity’s issued share capital and is 

able to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity so as to benefit from its activities. 

 

 

(h) Financial Instruments and Equity 

 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market.  They arise when the Company provides money, goods or services 

directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable.  The Company’s loans and receivables 

comprise non-trade and other receivables. 

 

Receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value which is normally the face value, and are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Appropriate allowances 

for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the profit or loss when there is objective evidence 

that the asset is impaired.  The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s 

carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest 

rate computed at initial recognition. 

 

Non-trade and other payables are stated at face value which is the fair value of the debts.  Where the 

effect of time value of money is material, the liabilities are the present values of the expenditures 

expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

 

Interest-bearing bank loans are initially recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs and 

subsequently carried at amortised cost.  Finance charges are recognised in profit or loss over the period 

of borrowings using the effective interest method.  

 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Equity is recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 

costs. 

 

 

(i) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial 

assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss 

or whether there is any indication that an impairment loss previously recognised for an asset in prior 

years may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 

of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss.  An asset's recoverable 

amount is calculated as the higher of the asset's value in use and/or its fair value less cost to sell. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
31 DECEMBER 2009 
 
 

3 Summary of Accounting Policies (cont’d) 

 

(i) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets (cont’d) 
 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company 

estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. If the 

recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  

Impairment losses are recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is land or 

buildings at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 

unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that it does not 

restate the asset to a carrying amount in excess of what would have been determined (net of 

depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior 

years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset 

is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 

revaluation increase. 
 
 

(j) Dividend Distribution  

 

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company's 

financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders. 
 
 

(k) Financial Guarantees   

 

The Company has issued corporate guarantees to creditors for borrowings of its subsidiaries.  These 

guarantees are financial guarantee contracts as they require the Company to reimburse the creditors if 

the subsidiaries fail to make principal or interest payments when due in accordance with the terms of 

their borrowings. 
 

Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at their fair values plus transaction costs. 

 

Financial guarantee contracts are subsequently amortised to the profit or loss over the period of the 

subsidiaries’ borrowings, unless the Company has incurred an obligation to reimburse the creditors for 

an amount higher than the unamortised amount. 

 

In this case, the financial guarantee contracts shall be carried at the expected amount payable to the 

creditors. 
 
 
 

4 Financial Risk Management  
 

(a) Capital Risk Management 
 

The Company manages its capital to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in 

order to provide return for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  The Company’s overall strategy remains unchanged since 

2008. 
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14 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
31 DECEMBER 2009 

 
 

4 Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 

(a) Capital Risk Management (cont’d) 

 

The capital structure of the Company consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, 

comprising share capital, share premium and retained earnings and net debts, which includes the 

borrowings, loans and advances from subsidiaries, net of cash and cash equivalents.  

 

The Company is not subjected to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

The debts-to-equity ratio as at 31 December 2009 and 2008 are as follows: 

 
  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Bank borrowings 10,000  10,000 

 Loans and advances from subsidiaries 33,113  46,268 

  43,113  56,268 

 Cash and cash equivalents (1,140)  (1,249) 

 Net debts 41,973  55,019 

 

 Equity  2,713,229  1,669,899 

 

 Debts-to-equity ratio 0.02  0.03 

 

 

(b) Financial Risk Management 
 

The Company’s activities exposed it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in 

interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk arising in the normal course of the 

Company’s business. The Company’s risk management seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects 

from these exposures. The management reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks 

and they are summarised below: 

 

(i) Interest Rate Risk 

 

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its short-term bank loan and loans and 

advances to and from subsidiaries. The Company constantly reviews its debt portfolio and monitors the 

changes in interest rate environment to ensure that interest receipts and payments are within acceptable 

level. Information relating to the interest rates and terms of repayment of interest-bearing financial 

assets and liabilities are disclosed in Notes 10 to 14 to the financial statements  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
31 DECEMBER 2009 

 
 

4 Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 

(b) Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 

(i) Interest Rate Risk (cont’d) 

 

The table below set out the interest rate profile of interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities: 

 
  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Assets at Variable Rates    

 Cash and cash equivalents 1,140  1,249 

 Other financial assets 100,262  361,382 

  101,402  362,631 

     

 Liabilities at Variable Rates    

 Borrowings 10,000  10,000 

 Other financial liabilities 9,846  13,451 

  19,846  23,451 

 

At 31 December 2009, if interest rates on all variable rate borrowings had been 0.5% higher/lower with 

all other variables held constant, profit before income tax and total comprehensive income for the year 

would have been approximately US$50,000 and US$48,000 (2008: US$50,000 and US$48,000) 

lower/higher respectively, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on the variable rate 

borrowings.  This analysis is prepared assuming the amount of borrowings outstanding at date of the 

statement of financial position was outstanding for the whole year. 

 

 

(ii) Credit Risk 

 

The Company’s policy is to enter into transactions with creditworthy counterparties so as to mitigate any 

significant credit risk.  Bank balances were placed in financial institutions of good credit rating and are 

monitored closely by the Company on an on-going basis. 

 

The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail to perform their obligations 

as at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the 

carrying amount of those assets as stated in the statement of financial position, except as follows: 

 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Corporate guarantees provided to financial institutions on 

subsidiaries’ borrowings: 

   

 - Total facilities  603,866  526,510 

 - Total utilisation 356,160  223,906 

 

As at the end of the reporting period, the Company does not have any significant concentration of credit 

risk. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

4 Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 

(b) Financial Risk Management (cont’d) 

 

(iii) Foreign Currency Risk 

 

The Company’s foreign currency exposure arises mainly from the exchange rate movements of the 

Singapore dollar and the United States dollar which is also the Company’s functional currency. 

 

As at the end of the reporting period, the Company’s net monetary assets are denominated in United 

States dollar, hence the Company does not have any significant exposure to foreign currency.  

 

 

(iv) Liquidity Risk 

 

To manage liquidity risk, the Company monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 

deemed adequate by the management to finance its operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in 

cash flows.  The Company relies on funds from subsidiaries as a significant source of liquidity. 

 

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s financial guarantees provided to financial 

institutions on subsidiaries’ borrowings that shows the remaining contractual maturities: 

 
 Less than  

1 year 
 

1 to 5 years 
Over 

5 years 
 

Total 

At 31 December 2009 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 

     

Financial guarantee contracts 146,167 190,793 19,200 356,160 

     

 

 

5 Critical Accounting Estimate and Assumption  

 

Impairment of Assets 

 

The Company reviews the carrying amounts of the assets as at the end of each reporting period to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the assets 

recoverable amount or value in use is estimated.  Determining the value in use of long-lived assets, 

which require the determination of future cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use 

and ultimate disposition of such assets, requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that 

can materially affect the financial statements.  Any resulting impairment loss could have a material 

adverse impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.  
  

 The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves significant judgement and estimations. While 

the Company believes that the assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in the 

assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable amounts and may lead to future 

impairment charges.  

 
As at 31 December 2009, there is no significant impairment loss recognised in the financial statements.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

6 Financial Income 
  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Interest income:    

 - loans to subsidiaries 10,645  28,722 

 - cash and cash equivalents 9  87 

  10,654  28,809 

 

 

 

7 Financial Expenses 
 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Interest expenses:    

 - short-term bank loan 119  495 

 - loans from subsidiaries 244  960 

  363  1,455 

 

 

 

8 Profit before Income Tax 

     

 This is arrived at after charging:    
  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Staff costs* 724  296 

     

* This represents short-term employment benefits paid to key management personnel who are also 

directors. 

 

Share-based Payment 

The Company introduced the GAR Group Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) which was approved by 

shareholders at the special meeting of the Company held on 24 October 2008.  The RSP is intended to 

align the interests of key management and executives of the Company and its subsidiaries with the 

interests of shareholders.  It is also expected to enhance the Company’s competitiveness in motivating 

and retaining talented key senior management and executives.  The plan contemplates the award of fully 

paid shares of the Company upon meeting prescribed performance target(s) and/or service condition(s).  

Awards granted will vest upon the satisfactory achievement of pre-determined operational and financial 

performance target(s).   

 

As at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, no awards have been granted by the Company under 

the RSP. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

9 Income Tax  

 
  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Tax expense attributable to profit is made up of:    

 - Current income tax 211  1,352 

 - (Over)/Under-provision of income tax in respect of prior years  (52)  11 

  159  1,363 

 

The reconciliation of the current year tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the 

Mauritius statutory tax rate is as follows: 
  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Profit before income tax 827,336  70,270 

     

 Tax calculated at tax rate of 15% (2008: 15%) 124,100  10,541 

 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 49  63 

 Income not subject to tax (123,128)  (3,791) 

 (Over)/Under-provision of income tax in respect of prior years  (52)  11 

 Deemed foreign tax credit (810)  (5,461) 

  159  1,363 

 

The Company, being a GBL1 company for the purpose of the FS Act 2007 (see Note 1), is taxed in 

Mauritius at a fixed rate of 15% (2008: 15%).  It is, however, entitled to a tax credit equivalent to the 

higher of the foreign taxes paid and 80% (2008: 80%) of the Mauritius tax on its foreign source income, 

thereby giving an effective tax rate of 3%.  Interest income from any bank under the Banking Act 2004 is 

exempt from tax and there is no tax on capital gains in Mauritius. 

 

 

 

10 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Cash at banks 190  264 

 Time deposits 950  985 

 Total cash and cash equivalents 1,140  1,249 

 Less: Time deposits pledged as security for banker guarantee (950)  (985) 

 Cash and cash equivalents for statement of cash flows purposes 190  264 

     

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies: 

 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 United States dollar 1,067  1,147 

 Singapore dollar 73  102 

  1,140  1,249 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

10 Cash and Cash Equivalents (cont’d) 

 

The above time deposits earn interest ranging from 0.1% - 3.5% (2008: 2.6% - 4.7%) per annum.  The 

carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity 

of these balances. 

 

 

 

11 Interest in Subsidiaries  

 
  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 Investment in unquoted equity shares, at cost 
(a)

 826,574  1,012,792 

 Loans and advances to subsidiaries, unsecured 
(b)

 1,928,754  509,734 

 Bonds issued by subsidiaries, unsecured 
(c)

 -  205,220 

  2,755,328  1,727,746 

     

 

(a) Details of the direct subsidiaries held by the Company are as follows: 

 
 

Name of subsidiary/Country of 
incorporation and Place of business 

 
Principal activities 

Percentage of 
equity held by  
the Company 

 
Cost of investment 

   2009 2008 2009 2008 

   % % US$’000 US$’000 

 Asia Integrated Agri Resources  
Limited (i) 
Bermuda 
 

Investment holding 100 100  98,000  98,000 

 Asia Palm Oil Investment Pte. Ltd. (i) 
Singapore  
 

Investment holding 100 100 -* -* 

 Blue Sky Golden Energy Ltd  
Mauritius 
 

Investment holding 100 100 -* -* 

 Easton Capital Resources Pte. Ltd.  
Singapore (iii), (d) 

 

Investment holding 100 - -** - 

 Golden Agri Capital Pte. Ltd.  

Singapore (iii), (d) 

 

Investment holding 100 - -** - 

 Golden Agri International Finance Ltd  
Mauritius 
 

Treasury 
management 

100 100 -* -* 

 Golden Agri International Finance (2) 
Ltd (ii) 
British Virgin Islands 
 

Treasury 
management 

100 100 -*** -*** 

 Golden Agri International (Mauritius) 
Ltd 
Mauritius 

Provision of 
management and 
consultancy services 
 

100 100 -* -* 

 Golden Agri International Pte Ltd (i) 
Singapore 

Trading in crude 
palm oil and related 
products 
 

100 100 14,614 14,614 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

11 Interest in Subsidiaries (cont’d) 

 

 
Name of subsidiary/Country of 
incorporation and Place of business 

 
Principal activities 

Percentage of 
equity held by  
the Company 

 
Cost of investment 

   2009 2008 2009 2008 

   % % US$’000 US$’000 

 Golden Agri International Trading  
Ltd (i)  
Malaysia 
 

Trading in crude 
palm oil and related 
products 
 

100 100 -** -** 

 Golden Agri Investment (S) Pte. Ltd. (i) 
Singapore 
 

Investment holding 100 100 -** -** 

 Golden Agri (Labuan) Ltd (i) 
Malaysia 

Trading in crude 
palm oil and related 
products 
 

100 100 -** -** 

 Madascar Investment Ltd  
Mauritius 
 

Investment holding 100 100  67,600  67,600 

 P.T. Purimas Sasmita (i) 
Indonesia 
 

Investment holding, 
business and 
management 
consultancy, and 
trading 
 

100 100 646,360 646,360 

 Silverand Holdings Ltd (e) 
Mauritius 
 

Investment holding - 100        - 186,218 

     826,574 1,012,792 

* Cost of investment amounted to US$2. 

** Cost of investment amounted to US$1. 

*** Cost of investment amounted to US$450. 

 

Notes: 

The above subsidiaries are audited by Moore Stephens, Mauritius except for subsidiaries that are 

indicated below: 

 

(i) Audited by member firms of Moore Stephens International of which Moore Stephens, Mauritius 

is a member. 

(ii) No statutory audit required by law in its country of incorporation. 

(iii) Statutory audit not required as the subsidiary is newly incorporated/inactive. 

 

 

(b) The loans to subsidiaries included US$100,262,000 (2008: US$361,382,000) which bears interest from 

1.7% - 3.8% (2008: 3.6% - 6.4%) per annum and are not expected to be repaid in the near future.  The 

fair value of loans and advances is not determinable as the timing of the future cash flows arising from 

this amount cannot be measured reliably, hence this amount is recognised at transaction price.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

11 Interest in Subsidiaries (cont’d) 

 

(b) The loans and advances to subsidiaries are denominated in the following currencies: 

  

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

     

 United States dollar 1,928,704  479,136 

 Singapore dollar 34  30,598 

 Malaysian ringgit 16  - 

  1,928,754  509,734 

     
 

(c) As at 31 December 2008, the balance represented 5-year Zero Percent Convertible Bonds issued by a 

subsidiary, P.T. Purimas Sasmita, with maturity dates in 2012 and 2013.  These bonds were 

denominated in United States dollar and were fully redeemed during the financial year 2009. 

 

 

(d) During the financial year 2009, the following new wholly-owned companies have been incorporated: 

 

Subsidiaries Initial Issued and Paid-up Capital 

  

Easton Capital Resources Pte. Ltd. 1 ordinary share of US$1 

Golden Agri Capital Pte. Ltd. 1 ordinary share of US$1 

 

 

(e) During the financial year 2009, the Company disposed its entire interest in the share capital of Sliverand 

Holdings Ltd to Golden Agri Capital Pte. Ltd.  

 

In the opinion of the directors, the recoverable amount of its interest in subsidiaries is not less than the 

carrying amount of the interest in subsidiaries, on the basis that the present value of estimated future 

cash flows expected to arise from the subsidiaries’ operations over the next few years will exceed the 

carrying amount of the investment in these subsidiaries. 

 

 

 

12 Short-Term Bank Loan, Unsecured 

 

The unsecured short-term bank loan, denominated in United States dollar, bears interest at 1.0% to 

4.3% (2008: 3.3% to 5.4%) per annum and is repayable on demand.  The carrying amount of this loan 

approximates its fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity of this balance.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

13 Non-Trade Receivable from/Payable to a Related Party  
 

The unsecured non-trade receivable from/payable to a related party is interest free, repayable on 

demand and is denominated in the following currencies: 

  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Receivable from a related party:    

 Singapore dollar 386  377 

     

 Payable to a related party:    

 Singapore dollar 128  2,467 

 

The carrying amount of this receivable approximates its fair value due to the relatively short-term 

maturity of this balance.  The carrying amount of this payable approximates its fair value due to the 

relatively short-term maturity of this balance. 

 

 

 

14 Loans and Advances from Subsidiaries, Unsecured 

 

The unsecured loans and advances from subsidiaries, denominated in United States dollar, included 

US$9,846,000, (2008: US$13,451,000) which bears interest ranging from 0.3% to 4.4% (2008: 2.2% to 

6.4%) per annum and are repayable on demand.  The carrying amounts of these loans approximate 

their fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these balances. 

 

 

 

15 Issued Capital  

 

  2009  2008 

  No of Shares  US$’000  No of Shares  US$’000 

 Issued and fully paid:        

 Balance at beginning of the year 9,975,903,792  249,397  4,987,951,896  249,397 

 Subdivision of share (a) -  -  4,987,951,896  -      

 Issuance of shares pursuant to 

Bonus Issue (b)  399,033,766  9,976  -  -      

 Issuance of shares pursuant to 

Rights Issue (c) 1,763,739,384  44,094  -  -      

 Balance at end of the year 12,138,676,942  303,467  9,975,903,792  249,397 

         

 

(a) Pursuant to the approval given by the shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting held 

on 15 February 2008, each ordinary share of the Company of par value US$0.05 each was  

sub-divided into two ordinary shares of par value US$0.025 each on 22 February 2008.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

15 Issued Capital (cont’d) 

 

(b) On 2 April 2009, 399,033,766 ordinary shares of US$0.025 each have been allotted and issued 

to the shareholders of the Company pursuant to the bonus issue on the basis of one bonus 

share credited as fully paid by capitalisation of the Company’s share premium account, for 

every 25 existing shares held in the Company. The bonus shares ranked pari passu in all 

respects with the existing shares of the Company.     

 

(c) Subsequently, on 24 July 2009, 1,763,739,384 ordinary shares at an issue price of S$0.18 

(equivalent to US$0.125) per share and 705,493,728 detachable warrants were allotted and 

issued pursuant to the rights issue exercise on the basis of 17 rights shares for every 100 

existing shares held in the Company and 2 warrants for every 5 rights shares subscribed 

(“Rights Issue”).  Each detachable warrant carries the right to subscribe for one new ordinary 

share at an exercise price of S$0.54 per share, on the exercise date. 

 

The net proceeds of approximately S$311 million (equivalent to US$216 million) from the 

Rights Issue will be utilised for supporting the Group’s on-going organic growth and capital 

expenditure, pursuing value-creating mergers and acquisitions and expansion opportunities 

and general corporate purposes.  As at 31 December 2009, the Company, through its wholly-

owned subsidiary, has disbursed US$80 million for the acquisition of new subsidiaries. 

 

As at 31 December 2009, the number of outstanding warrants was 705,493,728 and may only be 

exercised on the third (3
rd

) anniversary of the date of issuance (i.e. 23 July 2012).  

 

 

 

16 Related Party Transactions  

 

(a) Related parties are entities (except for holding company and associated company) with common direct 

or indirect shareholders and/or directors.  Parties are considered to be related (directly or indirectly) if 

one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in 

making financial and operating decisions. 

 

 

(b) In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, significant 

transactions with related party, on terms agreed between parties, are as follows: 

      

   2009  2008 

   US$’000  US$’000 

      

 Management fee expense paid/payable to a related party -  4,943 

 Advisory fee to a related party 207  141 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

31 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

17 Dividends  

 
  2009  2008 

  US$’000  US$’000 

 Final dividend paid in respect of the previous year of US$Nil           

(2008: US$0.005) per qualifying share - 

 

36,768 

 Interim dividend paid in respect of the current year of S$Nil 

(2008: S$0.008) per qualifying share - 

 

55,576 

  -  92,344 

 

At the Annual Meeting on 27 April 2010, a final dividend (tax not applicable) of S$0.00495 per share, 

based on the total number of issued and paid up shares of 12,138,676,942 shares of US$0.025 each, 

amounting to S$60,086,450.86 (equivalent to approximately US$42,797,000) will be recommended.  

These financial statements do not reflect this dividend, which will be accounted for in shareholders' 

equity as an appropriation of retained earnings for the financial year ending 31 December 2010. 
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Shareholding Statistics
As at 11 March 2010

STATED CAPITAL		  :	U S$1,872,652,475.28
CLASS OF SHARES		 :	O rdinary shares of US$0.025 each with equal voting rights

There are no treasury shares held in the capital of the Company.

Size of Shareholdings	 No. of Shareholders	 %	 No. of Shares	 %
									      
1 - 999                    		   	 3,349		  8.83	 1,559,430 	 0.01
1,000 - 10,000			   17,280 		  45.57	 99,182,515 	 0.82
10,001 - 1,000,000			   17,204 		  45.36	 805,778,216 	 6.64
1,000,001 & ABOVE			  91 		  0.24	 11,232,156,781 	 92.53

Total						     37,924 	 100.00	 12,138,676,942	 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Name of Shareholders				   No. of Shares	 %
				  
FLAMBO INTERNATIONAL LIMITED		  3,165,908,259	 26.08
RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD		  1,991,922,190	 16.41
CITIBANK NOMINEES S’PORE PTE LTD		  1,210,095,915	 9.97
HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD		  1,005,015,285	 8.28
MASSINGHAM INTERNATIONAL LTD		  1,000,016,678	 8.24
DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD				   814,976,512	 6.72
CIMB-GK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.		  471,083,244	 3.88
DBSN SERVICES PTE LTD				  454,021,857	 3.74
UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD		  344,907,503	 2.84
NOMURA SINGAPORE LIMITED		  248,427,772	 2.05
UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD				   49,749,060	 0.41
OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD		  39,589,588	 0.33	
BNP PARIBAS SECURITIES SERVICES SPORE		  33,812,859	 0.28
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD		  31,689,904	 0.26
DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (S) PTE LTD		  31,316,285	 0.26
DB NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD		  30,132,518	 0.25
MORGAN STANLEY ASIA (S’PORE) SECURITIES PTE LTD		  25,887,670	 0.21
HL BANK NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD		  24,142,484	 0.20
MERRILL LYNCH (S’PORE) PTE LTD		  20,856,132	 0.17
TM ASIA LIFE SINGAPORE LTD-PAR FUND		  14,800,000	 0.12

Total								      11,008,351,715	 90.70
	

Substantial Shareholders	 No. of Shares in which they have an interest

						      				    Total
										          Direct & 	
						      Direct	 Percentage	 Deemed	 Percentage	 Deemed 	
Name					I     nterest	 (%)	I nterest	 (%)	I nterest (%)

MASSINGHAM			   2,377,110,393	 19.58	 –	 –	 19.58
	 INTERNATIONAL LTD (“MIL”)  
FLAMBO INTERNATIONAL LIMITED1 
	 (“Flambo”)				   3,521,464,359	 29.01	 2,377,110,393	 19.58	 48.59
THE WIDJAJA FAMILY MASTER TRUST(2)2 
	 (“WFMT(2)”)			   –	 –	 5,898,574,752	 48.59	 48.59

Notes:
1	T he deemed interest of Flambo arises from its interest in 2,377,110,393 shares held by its wholly-owned subsidiary, MIL in the 

Company.
2 	T he deemed interest of WFMT(2) arises from its interest in 2,377,110,393 shares held by MIL and 3,521,464,359 shares held by 

Flambo in the Company.

Based on the information available to the Company as at 11 March 2010, approximately 51% of the issued ordinary shares of the 
Company is held by the public and therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited is complied with.



Warrantholding Statistics 
As at 11 March 2010

NO. OF WARRANTS 		  :	 705,493,728
EXPIRY DATE OF WARRANTS	 :	 23 July 2012 (“Exercise Date”), provided if such day falls on a day on which the 

Register of Members and/or the Register of Warrantholders are closed or is not 
a business day, then the Exercise Date shall be the next business day on which 
the Register of Members and the Register of Warrantholders  are open.

Each Warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one (1) new ordinary share of US$0.025 each (“New Share”) at an 
exercise price of S$0.54 for each New Share on the Exercise Date. 
							    
Size of Warrantholdings	 No. of Warrantholders	 %	 No. of Warrants	 %

1 - 999                    			   10,969 		  59.62	 5,156,162 	 0.73
1,000 - 10,000			   6,657 		  36.19	 17,483,648 	 2.48
10,001 - 1,000,000			   743 		  4.04	 48,760,528 	 6.91
1,000,001 & ABOVE			  28 		  0.15	 634,093,390 	 89.88

Total						     18,397 	 100.00	 705,493,728 	 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST WARRANTHOLDERS

Name of Warrantholders					    No. of Warrants 	 %

FLAMBO INTERNATIONAL LIMITED			   184,001,505	 26.08
RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD			   132,690,018	 18.81
CITIBANK NOMINEES S’PORE PTE LTD			   89,534,496	 12.69
MASSINGHAM INTERNATIONAL LTD			   58,120,627	 8.24
HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD			   43,465,032	 6.16
CIMB-GK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.			   30,615,064	 4.34
DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD					    17,015,118	 2.41
KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.			   16,013,029	 2.27
NOMURA SINGAPORE LIMITED			   15,948,831	 2.26
UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD		  7,727,931	 1.10
DBSN SERVICES PTE LTD					   5,553,328	 0.79
KO SENG HOCK						     4,705,120	 0.67
DB NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD			   3,101,169	 0.44
NG CHEE LEONG						     3,046,120	 0.43
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD			   2,730,344	 0.39
OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD			   2,102,920	 0.30
TENG LAM SENG						     2,085,600	 0.30
MORGAN STANLEY ASIA (S’PORE) SECURITIES PTE LTD		  1,999,639	 0.28
CHEAH SIEW CHIN						    1,900,000	 0.27
LEE HON LEONG						     1,800,800	 0.26

Total		   							      624,156,691	 88.49



Notice of Annual Meeting 
Golden Agri-Resources Ltd
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an Annual Meeting of Golden Agri-Resources Ltd (the “Company” or “GAR”) will be held 
on Tuesday, 27 April 2010 at 2.00 p.m. at Holiday Inn Atrium Singapore, Level 4, Atrium Ballroom, 317 Outram Road, 
Singapore 169075 to transact the following business:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	T o receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2009 
together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon.    	

2.	T o declare a first and final dividend of S$0.00495 per ordinary share for the year ended  
31 December 2009.	

3.	T o approve the Directors’ Fees of S$258,336 for the year ended 31 December 2009. 
	 (FY2008: S$228,000)	

4.	T o re-elect the following Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 90 of the 
		 Constitution of the Company:

	 a)	 Mr Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja 	
	 b)	 Mr Simon Lim    	
	 c)	 Mr Hong Pian Tee {please see note 1}

5.	T o re-appoint Moore Stephens LLP as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration.	

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

6.	T o consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without any amendments, the following 
resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions:

RENEWAL OF AUTHORITY TO ALLOT AND ISSUE SHARES (“SHARE ISSUE MANDATE”)

6A.	 “That pursuant to The Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius and the Listing Rules of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised 
to allot and issue (including the allotment and issue of shares and convertible securities pursuant 
to offers, agreements or options made or granted by the Company while this authority remains 
in force) or otherwise dispose of shares in the Company (including making and granting offers, 
agreements and options which would or which might require shares and convertible securities 
to be allotted, issued or otherwise disposed of) at any time, whether during the continuance 
of such authority or thereafter, to such persons, upon such terms and conditions and for such 
purposes as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit without first offering such 
shares and convertible securities to the members of the Company provided that the aggregate 
number of shares and convertible securities to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall 
not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the issued share capital of the Company (excluding treasury 
shares) at the date of this Resolution, and provided further that where members of the 
Company with registered addresses in Singapore are not given an opportunity to participate 
in the same on a pro-rata basis, then the shares and convertible securities to be issued under 
such circumstances shall not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the issued share capital of the 
Company (excluding treasury shares) at the date of this Resolution.”  {please see note 2}

Authority to allot and issue shares up to 100% of the total number of issued 
shares via a pro-rata renounceable rights issue

6B.	 “That subject to and pursuant to the share issue mandate in Resolution 8 above being obtained, 
and notwithstanding the fifty percent (50%) limit in Resolution 8 above, that pursuant to The 
Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius and in accordance with and subject to the requirements of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors of the Company be and are 
hereby authorised to allot and issue shares in the Company at any time by way of a pro-rata 
renounceable rights issue to shareholders of the Company upon such terms and conditions 	

(Resolution 1)

(Resolution 2)

(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)
(Resolution 5)
(Resolution 6)

(Resolution 7)

(Resolution 8)

(Resolution 9)



and for such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit provided that 
the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed 
one hundred percent (100%) of the issued share capital of the Company (excluding treasury 
shares) at the date of this Resolution.” {please see note 3}

	  
Authority to allot and issue shares at a discount of up to 20% under Share 
Issue Mandate

6C.	 “That subject to and pursuant to the share issue mandate in Resolution 8 above being obtained, 
authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to allot and issue new shares 
on a non pro-rata basis at an issue price per new share which shall be determined by the 
Directors in their absolute discretion provided that such price shall not represent more 
than twenty percent (20%) discount to the weighted average price per share determined in 
accordance with the requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.” 
{please see note 4} 	

Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

6D.	 “�(a)That for the purposes of The Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius (the “Act”), the exercise 
by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise 
acquire ordinary shares (“Shares”) in the issued share capital of the Company not exceeding 
in aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereafter defined), at such price or price as may be 
determined by the Directors from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter 
defined), whether by way of:

		 (i) �	� market purchases (each a “Market Purchase”) on the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”); and/or

		 (ii)	� off-market purchases (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) effected in accordance with any 
equal access schemes as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as they 
consider fit, which schemes shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Act, 

	 and otherwise in accordance with all other laws, regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as  may 
for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and 
unconditionally (the “Share Purchase Mandate”);

	 (b)That unless varied or revoked by the Company in members meeting, the authority conferred 
on the Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised 
by the Directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the 
passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

		 (i)	 the date on which the next Annual Meeting of the Company is held; or

		 (ii)	 the date by which the next Annual Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held;

	 (c)That in this Resolution:

	 	 “Prescribed Limit” means ten percent (10%) of the issued ordinary share capital of the 
Company as at the date of the passing of this Resolution; and

	 	 “Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased, means an amount (excluding 
brokerage, stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not 
exceeding:

	     (i) in the case of a Market Purchase: 		 105% of the Average Closing Price 

	     (ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase: 	 120% of the Highest Last Dealt Price

(Resolution 10)

(Resolution 11)



	 where:

	� “Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the 
last five (5) market days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the 
day of the Market Purchase and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs 
after the relevant 5-day period; 

	� “Highest Last Dealt Price” means the highest price transacted for a Share as recorded on the 
market day on which there were trades in the Shares immediately preceding the day of the 
making of the offer pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase; and

	� “day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Company announces its intention 
to make an offer for the purchase of Shares from Shareholders stating the purchase price 
(which shall not be more than the Maximum Price calculated on the foregoing basis) for 
each Share and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market 
Purchase; and

	 (d)That the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such 
acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider 
expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.” 
{please see note 5}	 	

Renewal of Interested Person Transactions Mandate

6E.	 “(a)That pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited, approval be and is hereby given to the Company, its subsidiaries and associated 
companies that are not listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited or an 
approved exchange, provided that the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), or the 
Group and its interested person(s), has control over the associated companies, or any of them 
to enter into any of the transactions falling within the types of Interested Person Transactions, 
particulars of which are set out in the Appendix 1 to this Notice of Annual Meeting {please see 
note 6}, with any party who is of the class of Interested Persons described in the said Appendix 
1, provided that such transactions are carried out in the ordinary course of business and in 
accordance with the guidelines of the Company for Interested Person Transactions as set out 
in the said Appendix 1 (the “IPT Mandate”);

 
	 (b)That the IPT Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in members meeting, 

continue in force until the next Annual Meeting of the Company; and 

	 (c)That the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all 
such acts and things (including executing all such documents as may be required) as they may 
consider expedient or necessary or in the interests of the Company to give effect to the IPT 
Mandate and/or this Resolution.” {please see note 6A}	

By Order of the Board

Simon Lim
Director
9 April 2010
Singapore

Notes:

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual Meeting is entitled to appoint no more than two proxies to attend and 
vote in his stead.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company. Proxies must be lodged at the mailing address of the 
Company at 108 Pasir Panjang Road, #06-00 Golden Agri Plaza, Singapore 118535 not later than 48 hours before the 
Annual Meeting.

(Resolution 12)



Additional information relating to the Notice of Annual Meeting:

1.	 Mr Hong Pian Tee if re-elected, will remain on the Audit Committee. Mr Hong Pian Tee is considered to be 
independent.

2.	T he Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 6A above, if passed, is to empower the Directors from the date of 
the above Meeting until the date of the next Annual Meeting, to issue shares and convertible securities in the 
capital of the Company. The number of shares and convertible securities that the Directors may issue under this 
Resolution would not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the issued capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) 
at the time this Resolution is passed. For issue of shares and convertible securities other than on a pro-rata basis 
to shareholders, the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be issued shall not exceed twenty 
percent (20%) of the issued capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares).

	T he percentage of issued capital is based on the Company’s issued capital (excluding treasury shares) after 
adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities or any employee 
share options on issue or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed 
and (b) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

3.	T he Ordinary Resolution 9 proposed in item 6B above, if passed, will empower the Directors to allot and issue 
shares in the Company up to 100% (from the existing 50%) of its issued capital by way of a pro-rata renounceable 
rights issue. This is one of the new measures introduced by Singapore Exchange Ltd, in consultation with the 
Monetary Authority of Singapore, on 20 February 2009 to accelerate and facilitate listed issuers’ fund raising 
efforts and will be in effect until 31 December 2010 or such later date as may be determined by the exchange.

	T his mandate is conditional upon the Company:
	 •	 making periodic announcements on the use of the proceeds as and when the funds are materially disbursed; 

and
	 •	 providing a status report on the use of proceeds in the annual report.

	T he percentage of issued capital is based on the Company’s issued capital (excluding treasury shares) after 
adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities or any employee 
share options on issue or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed 
and (b) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.

	T his mandate, if passed, will provide the Directors with an opportunity to raise funds and avoid prolonged 
market exposure by reducing the time taken for shareholders’ approval, in the event the need arises. Minority 
shareholders’ interests are mitigated as all shareholders have equal opportunities to participate and can dispose 
their entitlements through trading of nil-paid rights if they do not wish to subscribe for their rights shares.

4.	 The Ordinary Resolution 10 proposed in item 6C above, if passed, is to authorise the Directors to allot and issue 
new shares on a non pro-rata basis at an issue price of up to 20% discount to the weighted average price per share 
determined in accordance with the requirements of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. This is 
one of the new measures introduced by Singapore Exchange Ltd, in consultation with the Monetary Authority of 
Singapore, on 20 February 2009 to accelerate and facilitate listed issuers’ fund raising efforts and will be in effect 
until 31 December 2010 or such later date as may be determined by the exchange. 

5.	T he Ordinary Resolution 11 proposed in item 6D above, if passed, is to renew for another year, up to the next Annual 
Meeting of the Company, the mandate for share purchase as described in the Appendix 2 to this Notice of Annual 
Meeting, which will, unless previously revoked or varied by the Company at members meeting, expire at the next 
Annual Meeting.

6.	T he mandate for transactions with Interested Persons as described in the Appendix 1 (the “Appendix 1”) to this 
Notice of Annual Meeting includes the placement of deposits by the Company with financial institutions in which 
Interested Persons have an interest.

6A.	T he Ordinary Resolution 12 proposed in item 6E above, if passed, is to renew for another year, up to the next Annual 
Meeting of the Company, the mandate for transactions with Interested Persons as described in the Appendix 1, 
which will, unless previously revoked or varied by the Company at members meeting, expire at the next Annual 
Meeting.



TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES HELD

Signature(s) or Common Seal of Member(s) IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES ON THE REVERSE

No.	 Resolutions 	 For	 Against

	 ORDINARY BUSINESS	

1	 Adoption of Reports and Accounts 	

2	 Declaration of First and Final Dividend 	

3	 Approval of Directors’ Fees	

4	 Re-election of Mr Frankle (Djafar) Widjaja 	

5	 Re-election of Mr Simon Lim 	

6	 Re-election of Mr Hong Pian Tee 	

7	 Re-appointment of Auditors 	

	 SPECIAL BUSINESS	

8	 Renewal of authority to allot and issue shares 	

9	 Authority to allot and issue shares up to 100% of the total number of issued 
	 shares via a pro-rata renounceable rights issue	

10	 Authority to allot and issue shares at a discount of up to 20% under  
	 Share Issue Mandate 	

11	 Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate 	

12	 Renewal of Interested Person Transactions Mandate	

I/We ,  (Name)

of     (Address)

being a member/members of Golden Agri-Resources Ltd (the “Company” or “GAR”) hereby appoint: 

Annual Meeting

Dated this  day of  2010	

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual Meeting of the Company (the “AM”) as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and vote 
for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the AM to be held on Tuesday, 27 April 2010 at 2.00 p.m. 
at Holiday Inn Atrium Singapore, Level 4, Atrium Ballroom, 317 Outram Road, Singapore 169075 and at any adjournment 
thereof.

(Please indicate with an “X’’ in the space provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the resolution as set 
out in the Notice of AM. In the absence of specific direction, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/they will on any other 
matter arising at the AM).

and/or (delete as appropriate):

IMPORTANT 
1.	 For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy 

shares of Golden Agri-Resources Ltd, the Annual 
Report is forwarded to them at the request of their 
CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR 
INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by such CPF 
investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and 
purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

Name	 Address	 NRIC/Passport Number	   Proportion of Shareholdings

	  No. of Shares	 %

Proxy Form

Golden Agri-Resources Ltd
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius)

 
 



Notes:
1.	P lease insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the 

Depository Register (as defined in the Constitution of the Company), you should insert that number.  If you have 
shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number.  
If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the 
Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number.  If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will 
be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2.	 A member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two 
proxies to attend and vote on his behalf.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3.	T he instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s mailing address at 108 Pasir 
Panjang Road, #06-00 Golden Agri Plaza, Singapore 118535 not less than 48 hours before the time set for the 
AM.

4.	 Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the 
proportion of his holding to be represented by each proxy.

5.	T he instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly 
authorised in writing.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must 
be executed under its common seal or under the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised.

6.	 Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney 
(or other authority) or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be 
lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

7.	 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such 
person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the AM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies 
Act, Cap 50 of Singapore.

8.	T he Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument of proxy which is incomplete, improperly completed, 
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor 
specified on the instrument of proxy. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the 
Company may reject an instrument of proxy if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares 
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time fixed for holding the AM, as 
certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

ANNUAL MEETING
PROXY FORM

The Company Secretary
GOLDEN AGRI-RESOURCES LTD

c/o 108 Pasir Panjang Road 
#06-00 Golden Agri Plaza 

Singapore 118535

fold along this line 

AFFIX 

STAMP 

HERE
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